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Focussed  
on discovery



Proven explorers,  
Expanding producers
Red Rock Resources plc is a minerals company focussed 
on the discovery and development of gold, iron ore and other 
minerals. The principal operational focus of the Company 
is gold and base metal exploration in Kenya, gold production 
in Colombia and early stage iron ore exploration in Greenland. 
The Company’s iron ore interests are also held through its 
strategic holding in Jupiter Mines Limited (ASX:JMS) and 
its royalty interest in an iron ore project.

Red Rock adds value to its projects through various 
strategies and realises value through strategies which 
can include production, sale, joint venture, retention 
of royalty and spin offs. 
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Highlights

Financial highlights
	 Pre-tax	profit	rise	from	£4,754,557	to	£13,973,537

	 	Earnings	per	share	rise	from	0.65	pence	
to	1.78	pence

	 Equity	rise	from	£8,599,527	to	£32,843,858

	 	Share	price	rise	from	1.77	pence	to	6.47	pence

Funding highlights
	 	£7,041,829	before	expenses	raised	from	share	
placings	at	prices	between	1.615	pence	and	
15	pence

	 	£84,750	raised	from	exercise	of	options	at	
prices	between	1.25	pence	and	3.20	pence

	 	Au$5,847,462	raised	by	sale	of	9,533,333	
Jupiter	Mines	Limited	shares

Corporate highlights
	 	Exercise	of	option	to	acquire	51%	of	Mineras	
Four	Points	SA

	 Entry	into	joint	venture	with	NAMA	Greenland	Ltd

Pre-tax profit

Earnings per share

Share price

Jupiter shares

£13.97m

1.78 pence

6.47pence

74.2m
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Red	Rock	at	a	glance

A new era of production and exploration
We have made a strategic decision to concentrate on two commodities, 
gold as well as iron ore, marking a significant stage in our development. 
We are no longer simply mineral explorers, but have become an 
exploration and production business.

Location
Both mines are located in northern 
Colombia, in the region of Antioquia, 
between Zaragoza and Segovia, along a 
series of north-south trending structures 
collectively and loosely known as the 
Frontino Gold Belt.

Red Rock Resources’ interest
Red Rock owns 51% of local operator 
MFP and retains an option over a further 
1%. Red Rock also has the outstanding 
loan of US$2 million to MFP and provides 
services for a fee of approximately 
US$1 million a year.

Geology
The north-east of Antioquia is mainly 
composed of rocks of Pre-Cambrian, 
Palaeozoic and Jurassic origin. The region 
is dominated by the Otu-Bagre fault system, 
a series of crustal scale structures striking 
broadly north-south. These structures date 
from the Pre-Cambrian but were reactivated 
in the Triassic, during the Andean Orogeny, 
allowing magmatic emplacement, the 
circulation of hydrothermal fluids and 
mineral deposition. 

The Frontino Gold Belt is a major 
mesothermal gold field stretching for 
over 60km from Remedios in the south 
to Zaragoza in the north. It has historically 
provided up to 45% of Colombia’s gold 
production, and is characterised by depth 
and continuity of mineralisation. 

The El Limon and El Mango mines are 
located within the belt to the west of the 
Otu Fault.

History
El Limon has a production history spanning 
60 years. More than 350m deep and over 
seven levels, the mine has a history of 
producing high grade ore through the 
exploitation of the narrow high grade vein 
deposits prevalent in the area. A 150 ton 
per day plant has recently been refurbished 
by MFP and after a ten year gap is producing 
again. The El Mango mine has no history 
of production.

The area has a known mining history 
going back to the Spanish conquistadors. 
It hosts some of Colombia’s best known 
mines and a number of interesting 
exploration projects. 

Production
Production figures are reported on a 
quarterly basis.

Work to date
In 2011, following refurbishment, the mine 
and the 150 ton per day plant at El Limon 
have been re-opened and production has 
been building towards rated capacity.

Production rates and grades in 2011 show 
a continuing trend of gradual improvement 
since Red Rock exercised its option to buy 
51% of MFP in March 2011. New operational 
management was introduced and consultants 
brought in to introduce best practices. 
Monthly production of gold has risen to 
a level of over 500oz in recent months. 

Future programme
Parts delivery and the next rounds of plant 
and mine improvements are expected to 
bring further improvement in late 2011 
and early 2012.

A programme for 2012 of underground drilling 
to define a resource and a programme for 
investigation of further exploration targets 
from surface is being prepared.

The Company remains interested in 
increasing its ground position in Colombia.

Colombia Assets
	El Limon 
		El Mango

	Frontino Gold Belt

Highlights

		El Limon and El Mango gold mines owned through 51% subsidiary 
Mineras Four Points SA (“MFP”)

		Prime location 6km south of Zaragoza on the Frontino Gold Belt

		Uninterrupted production at El Limon from April 2011 

		Increased grade and mined tonnage since Red Rock took management control 

		Exploration planned at El Limon and El Mango mines

		El Mango, the second mine located 20km south of El Limon mine, near 
the village of Machuca, is expected to start ore production first quarter 2012
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Location
The licences are located 20–30km north 
of the operating North Mara gold mine in 
Tanzania and immediately east of Lake 
Victoria in SW Kenya.

Red Rock Resources’ interest
Red Rock Resources plc (“RRR”) holds 
a 15% interest in Mid Migori Mining 
Company Limited (“MMM”) which owns 
SPLs 122 and 202. The interest will 
increase to 60% upon completion of 
a Bankable Feasibility Study (“BFS”).

In addition, RRR holds approximately 35% 
interest in its partner in MMM and has recently 
applied for two other licences in the Rift 
Valley with prospectivity for rare earths.

Geology
The licences are being explored for gold 
and minor base metal mineralisation in 
acid and intermediate volcanic units. 
A VMS base-metal system of copper 
and zinc with accessory gold, silver and 
minor lead mineralisation is found in the 
north-west of the property at Macalder. 

History
The Migori belt has been relatively lightly 
explored over the greater part of its length, 

but boasts historic gold and base metal 
production during 1930s–1960s at the 
Macalder VMS copper-gold mine. To date, 
approximately, 84,000m have been drilled 
since the late 1980s. 

Resource potential
To date the following resources have 
been defined (all within SPL122):

Four prospects: KKM, Gori Maria, 
MK, Nyanza
2006: NI 43–101 Indicated Resource 
of 33 million tons @ 1.1 g/t gold with 
metal content of 1.2 million oz gold.

Macalder tailings dam
2011: JORC Measured Resource 
of 1.3 million tons @ 1.7 g/t gold 
with metal content of 68k oz gold.

Work to date
Macalder tailings
Resource delineation drilling: 
approximately 450m (2009–2010).

Scoping study in Q4 2011 and initiation 
of an Environmental Impact Assessment 
(“EIA”), ahead of advancing the project 
to production.

Infill resource drilling
Resource validation drilling: 15,000m over 
the four resource prospects; completion 
estimated late Q4 2011.

Exploration
Since 2009, RRR has been actively exploring 
for gold and base metals across the entire 
extent of the licences in order to identify 
potential areas of high grade.

Exploratory drilling: 1,500m of scout 
drilling; 8,000m of air core drilling.

Geophysics: Two airborne surveys and 
follow-up ground IP surveying.

Future programme
The main focus of activity in 2012 will be 
on advancing the Macalder tailings dam 
towards production, based on the results 
of the Scoping Study. Depending on the 
results of the 2011 resource infill drilling 
programme, the resource prospects will 
undergo a BFS.

RRR will continue exploring grassroots and 
anomalous targets in order to identify any 
additional high grade targets which may 
be added to the resource base.

Kenya

Highlights

		Two Special Prospecting Licences (“SPLs”) covering 310 sq km in SW Kenya. 
Extends 63km along the strike length of the Archean Migori Greenstone Belt

		NI 43-101 Indicated Resource of 1.2 million oz of gold over the KKM, MK, Nyanza 
and Gori Maria prospects

		Plan for gold production at the Macalder tailings: 1.3 million tons @1.7g/t 
for contained gold content of 68k oz (JORC Measured Resource)

		2011: Extensive resource infill drilling programme and ongoing grassroots exploration

		Validation of the 1.2 million oz resource estimate, as well as Scoping Study of the 
Macalder tailings resource, under way

Assets
	Migori Project

 Macalder tailings
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Red	Rock	at	a	glance	continued

Location
All licences are in the north-west of Greenland, 
150km south of the town of Qaanaaq.

Red Rock Resources’ interest
The Company has an earn-in agreement with 
North Atlantic Mining Associates Limited 
(“NAMA”) under which it will be issued with 
shares totalling 25% in NAMA Greenland Ltd 
(“NGL”), which owns exploration concessions 
at Melville Bugt, Greenland. The Company 
has the right to increase this percentage 
to 60% by funding 2012 exploration and 
declaring a mineral resource.

Geology
The Melville Bugt iron ore project covers an 
extensive area of Archaean-Palaeoproterozic 
crystalline shield, which correlate with the 
iron-rich rocks hosting the Mary River iron 
ore project of northern Baffin Island, Canada. 
Based on key geological events, the Melville 
Bugt area is interpreted to form part of the 
north-east trending late Archaean committee 
belt, which extends from northern Baffin 
Island, Canada.

The Melville Bugt area has received limited 
mineral exploration to date; regional mapping 
carried out by the Greenland geological 
survey between 1971–1980 identified 
numerous iron occurrences, principally 

occurring as Algoma type banded iron 
formations hosted within the 2.7 billion year 
old Lauge Koch Kyst supracrustal complex.

History
The area covered by the concessions, 
and additional areas now applied for by 
the joint venture, constitutes a potentially 
major and undrilled iron ore province, 
though one with limited detailed mapping 
and structural information, and therefore 
uncertain economic significance.

Work to date
The 2011 exploration programme confirmed 
the existence of a significant iron ore province 
at Melville Bugt, identifying a number of early 
targets for the delineation of economic 
mineralisation and identifying further 
work required. 

The 2011 arctic field season included 
geological traversing, sampling, prospect 
scale mapping and geophysical surveys 
over a wider area. Work was performed from 
remote fly camps, with three teams of 
geologists. Eight targets for future exploration 
and delineation were established.

Banded to massive haematite iron was 
encountered in a number of areas, the most 
promising of which is the De Dødes Fjord 
area, with the most extensive mineralisation 

identified to date a series of four linked 
occurrences with a potential strike length 
of 7.5km. Perhaps the most significant 
discovery has an exposed strike length 
of 800m on surface, with an estimated 
true thickness of 100m.

A number of linked occurrences of high grade 
magnetite iron were also identified in the 
Havik area, but not fully explored due to 
limited surface exposure.

The largest exposed iron formation to date 
was traced 2.5km along strike and had an 
estimated true thickness of 100m.

Results from the field XRF analyser have been 
very encouraging, with sample results up to 
69.5% iron (wet chemical results pending). 

13,170 line km of airborne magnetic and 
radiometric survey were flown over the licence 
area by Aeroquest Airborne Ltd., on line 
spacings between 200m and 1.6km with 
encouraging initial results. Full processing 
and interpretation is under way. 

Future programme
Following analysis of samples and 
geophysical results, a full report will 
be released and the 2012 programme, 
currently expected to include drilling to 
resource status of the main targets, will 
be confirmed.

Greenland

Highlights

		Extensive 2011 field reconnaissance programme completed on the Melville Bugt Iron 
Ore Project 

		1,013 sq km NAMA Greenland Ltd licence (plus 558 sq km under application)

		Banded to massive haematite iron formations were encountered in a number of areas

		High grade magnetite iron formations also identified

		The most significant outcrop with a traced strike length of 800m on surface, with 
an estimated true thickness of 100m. The largest exposed iron formation to date 
was traced 2.5km along strike and had an estimated true thickness of 100m

		Positive field XRF results with values up to 69.5% iron (wet chemical assays pending)

Assets
	 Melville Bugt Iron 

Ore Project

  Prospecting a massive haematite outcrop 
on a nunatak west of De Dødes fjord
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Our key objectives

1  Increase gold production 
and capacity in Colombia

  Operator and majority owner of two 
gold mines, Red Rock continues 
to increase production levels and 
develop medium-term potential.

2  Start gold production 
in Kenya

   Progress Macalder tailings’ Scoping 
Study for potential early production 
and deliver a series of updated 
Resource Estimates at Migori with 
objective of beginning bankable 
feasibility study.

3  Further exploration  
in Kenya

   Planned exploration programme 
for 2012 to define new zones 
of mineralisation.

4  Further exploration 
in Greenland

   Follow up the positive results of the 
2011 field season and undertake 
a maiden drilling programme.

 Gold pour in Colombia 

Proven explorers 

  Iron ore in Australia and gold  
in Kenya 

 Iron ore discovery in Greenland

Expanding producers

  Production increase at El Limon, 
Colombia

  Scoping Study preparatory 
to Macalder tailings’ mining

For more information visit www.rrrplc.com
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Executive	Chairman’s	review

I am pleased to present to shareholders the 
Company’s annual report for the seventh 
year of operations. The year was one in 
which the Company carried out more and 
better exploration than ever before, became 
a producer, and achieved a strategic rebalance. 
It was a year not just of increased profit but 
of improved performance on every front, 
where each of our major projects took a 
significant step forward, and it is a year 
which we shall look back on with pride. 

Financial discussion
Pre-tax profit rose from £4,754,557 in the year 
to 30 June 2010 to £13,973,537 in the year 
to 30 June 2011. The main factor behind this 
rise was our investment in Jupiter Mines 
Limited ceasing to be accounted for as an 
associate and becoming an available for sale 
investment at market valuation, as our 
shareholding was reduced to below 20%, 
resulting in an attributable profit of 
£14,237,297. In addition, the Company’s 
acquisition of securities in Ascot Mining plc 
occurred at below the market price resulting 
in a profit of £3.6 million when marked to 
market. Total Shareholders’ Equity rose 
from £8,599,527 to £32,843,858 over the 
prevailing year reflecting the increased 
profit  as well as the raising of £7,126,583 
from the issue of new shares over the period. 
Earnings per share rose from 0.65 pence 
per share to 1.78 pence per share.

HigHligHts from tHe 
executive cHairman’s review

	 	Pre-tax	profit	up	194%	to	£13.97	million

	 	Earnings	per	share	up	174%	to	1.78	pence

	 	Strategic	rebalance	to	iron	ore	and	gold

	 	Took	controlling	interest	in	Colombian	gold	mines	
as	production	begins

	 	Over	20,000m	drilling	in	Kenya	for	new	gold	resource

	 	Measured	Resource	and	Scoping	Study	at	Macalder	tailings

	 	Bankable	feasibility	under	way	at	Mt	Ida	iron	project

	 	Successful	first	field	season	in	Greenland	with	iron	ore	discoveries

Andrew Bell
Executive Chairman
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The	Company	is	now	based	around	the	
representative	industrial	metal,	iron	ore,	and	
the	representative	precious	metal,	gold.



Pre-tax profit

Earnings per share

£13.97m

1.78 pence

Sources of funds used in the business were 
predominantly the issue of new shares and 
the £3,495,571 proceeds from the sale of 
9,533,333 shares in Jupiter Mines Limited 
at an average price of 36.7 pence per share. 
The Company continues to hold 74,200,832 
of its peak holding of 93,104,165 shares in 
Jupiter Mines Limited as a strategic investment. 

On another important metric, share price, 
the Company saw its traded price rise from 
1.77 pence per share at 1 July 2010 to 
6.47 pence per share at 30 June 2011.

Strategy
Our strategy of rebalancing the Company so 
as to achieve a shift to a position where we 
were focussed on what we saw as the two 
key metals was implemented successfully. 
The Company is now based around the 
representative industrial metal, iron ore, 
and the representative precious metal, 
gold. This balanced commodity weighting 
reflects our perception that the two dominant 
socio-economic trends in the near future will 
be continuing urbanisation and continued 
growth in the major developing countries 
of Asia and South America, and a breakdown 
in the thirty year consensus against inflation 
in Europe and America as countries struggle 

with the implications of excess private 
and public debt.

The Company exercised its option in 
Colombia to purchase 51% of gold mine 
owner Mineras Four Points SA and took 
over management of the El Limon 
gold mine and in Kenya began a drill 
programme of over 20,000m to define 
and develop the Resource package 
at its joint venture gold asset, the 
Migori project of Mid Migori Mining 
Company Limited.

The Company pursued further its iron ore 
strategy, and balanced its development 
pipeline, by entering into a joint venture 
and earn-in with NAMA Greenland Ltd, 
which held unexplored but iron-prospective 
mineral licenses in Greenland. The Company 
retains a 1.5% gross royalty on Jupiter 
Mines Limited’s Mt Ida iron ore project in 
Western Australia, where a Resource has 
been declared and a bankable feasibility 
study is being fast-tracked. Jupiter Mines 
Limited, where the company retains a 
strategic stake, is also completing a 
feasibility study on the Mt Mason iron ore 
project and has announced the start of 
development of its Tshipi Borwa manganese 
mine in South Africa.
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Executive	Chairman’s	review	continued

Case study:  
Jupiter Mines Limited
2007 sale by Red Rock of Australian iron assets to Jupiter for shares, 
cash and royalty. Later purchase of additional shares to become 
largest Jupiter shareholder. JV formed with Pallinghurst to take 
control and inject other iron and manganese assets, and subsequent 
acquisition by Jupiter of Tshipi Borwa manganese mine. Initial 
investment of US$0.5 million results in value in cash and shares 
of over US$35 million, plus retained gross royalty on main asset.

 RC drill rig at Mount Ida central zone
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Our	pipeline	of	managed	projects	also	has	
the	potential	to	see	substantial	gain	in	value	
as	projects	mature.



Delivery
Project delivery is always one of the 
greatest challenges a mining company 
faces. It requires management systems 
that create organisation and discipline 
at the operating level, but it also requires 
systems that nurture the initiative to 
recognise and respond to problems. 
Our philosophy is one of operational 
decentralisation, where we aim to have 
as many decisions as possible taken 
locally and implemented by locally 
recruited professionals who we train 
and mentor, with some support 
services centrally provided. 

In Colombia the Company found itself 
driven by events to exercise its option 
and take management control earlier than 
planned, but once this was done a fast 
turnround of the business was achieved 
and since shortly after our financial year 
end the business has operated profitably.

In Kenya the requirement was to re-register, 
digitise and input old data at the same time 
as analysing new geophysical and mapping 
data, recruiting and training key staff, 
putting in place new management and 

reporting systems, building new facilities, 
conducting several simultaneous large 
drill programmes and progressing a 
tailings project towards feasibility. This 
was achieved and new Resource figures 
and a feasibility study are expected to 
be released soon. 

The planning of a first year’s exploration 
season on a new project would normally 
not qualify as a challenging task, but weather 
conditions in Greenland meant there could 
be no margin of error. Successful delivery 
of this first field season, with excellent 
results, was the Company’s best planning 
achievement to date. 

Growth prospects
The bringing into production of the Tshipi 
Borwa mine and the completion of the 
bankable feasibility studies at Mt Ida and 
Mt Mason will be significant milestones 
expected to be achieved in 2012 at Jupiter 
Mines Limited and with them that company 
will have come of age. Our key involvement 
at that stage will be our royalty interest 
in Mt Ida, which will become of increasing 
value if Mt Ida continues its course towards 
possible production by 2015. 

Share price

Jupiter shares

6.47pence

74.2m
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Executive	Chairman’s	review	continued

Case study: Mid Migori Mining 
Company Limited 
2009 buy in to 15% of Mid Migori which held Kenya gold-copper belt 
with 1.2 million oz gold Resource. Rights to farm in to 60% of Mid Migori 
on completion of bankable feasibility, and to defray investment costs 
from mineral sales. Later bought key stake in suspended Canadian 
partner in Mid Migori from forced seller and became largest shareholder, 
increasing Red Rock’s interest in its Kenya asset.

 
 Core logging at Mid Migori
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Growth prospects continued
Our pipeline of managed projects also has 
the potential to see substantial gain in value 
as projects mature. The groundwork has 
been put in place. In Kenya we have a 
Measured Resource defined at the Macalder 
tailings, where a Scoping Study is under 
way, and will shortly have new Resource 
figures in Migori at the KKM and other key 
deposits. This will enable the Company to 
take the next steps, whether applying for 
a mining license at the tailings, or moving 
into the bankable feasibility stage at KKM.  
In Colombia, the stabilisation of production 
at profitable levels and the building of a local 
team enables the next steps of expansion 
and improvement to take place. In Greenland, 
drill targets for 2012 have been identified 
and the probability is that we will drill them 
with a view to defining an iron resource in 
the next field season.

Elsewhere, our strategic positions in uranium 
and rare earth explorer Resource Star Ltd, 
and other investments, remain but until 
recovery in the financial markets are not 
expected to be an area of growth. 

Sustainable development
We have always acted and expected our 
staff to act with scrupulous care for our 
impacts on our host communities and their 
environment. The speed of our development 
and our lack of human and financial resource 
made us slow in articulating this as a policy 
or expressing it in action. This we began to 
remedy in the last year and we have given 
assistance to schools and communities in 
both Kenya and Colombia.

Since the year end we have appointed a Head 
of Marketing and Community Relations and 
in Kenya we have employed an environmental 
scientist, set up a Community and Social 
Relations Committee with local stakeholders, 
provided health and safety training and 
involved all staff in an intensified programme 
of local assistance.

This is an area where we believe we have 
the capacity to excel and all our staff are 
committed to the success and development 
of our outreach programmes. 

Recognition	that	the	increase	in	the	scale	and	
complexity	of	our	operations	would	geometrically	
increase	risk	led	to	the	imposition	of	a	rigorous	
health	and	safety	culture.



company profile: 
JUPITER MINES LIMITED

  ASX-listed “steel feed” platform 
created by Red Rock and Pallinghurst 
with potential 1.5 billion ton Mt Ida 
magnetite project in Western Australia 
and Tshipi Borwa manganese project 
in South Africa

  Bankable Feasibility under way on 
Mt Ida with aim of 10 million tons pa 
concentrate production

  Production expected mid–2012 
at Tshipi Borwa

  Red Rock has 4.07% stake plus 1.5% 
gross production royalty on Mt Ida 
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Executive	Chairman’s	review	continued

Case study: Mineras Four Points SA
2010 loan of US$2 million to Colombian gold mine owner to finish 
recommissioning mine in 2010, with security over gold production 
and shares in business. Right to receive fees rising to over US$1 million 
a year, plus option on 51% of business. In 2011, after production begins, 
Red Rock exercises option to 51%, renegotiating price and terms twice; 
retaining benefit of fee agreements and loan.

 

 El Limon gold mine
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Risk
We are always trying to identify and address 
areas of future risk and the two of these that 
were given priority during the year were health 
and safety and ensuring systems were in place 
to comply with the new Bribery Act in the UK.

The increased number of personnel in camp 
in Kenya as the drill programme intensified, 
the beginning of operations in the challenging 
and sometimes extreme environment of 
northern Greenland, and the start of mining 
and transportation of gold in Colombia were 
three major developments each of which 
presented health and safety challenges 
we had not come across before. 

The Company’s recognition that the increase 
in the scale and complexity of our operations 
would geometrically increase risk led to the 
imposition of a rigorous health and safety 
culture across the Group and the need to 
ensure buy-in to this by all staff was reflected 
in a commitment of senior management 
time and effort in order to demonstrate 
changed attitudes and reinforce a message 
of zero tolerance of any resistance to our 
new culture of health and safety awareness. 

The strong start made in this area was one 
of our principal achievements during the 
year. Emergency response plans were 
put in place in each theatre of operations. 

Effective training in safety consciousness 
will be a continuing priority. 

An anti-bribery and whistleblowing policy 
was put in place and communicated 
throughout the Group. Ensuring systems to 
maintain compliance and make third-party 
contractors aware of and committed to our 
policies is a requirement under the new 
Bribery Act and we will therefore take further 
measures to communicate and monitor 
compliance with our policies beyond the 
Group in all our countries of operation. 

Personnel
The Company’s key employees are highly 
qualified professionals and their professional 
and personal development is both a priority 
and a benefit to the Company. We have begun 
to put in place a mentoring and consultation 
system to make ourselves better employers. 
Great importance is given to the recruitment 
of the ablest staff available locally and to 
their subsequent training. 

The two things we look for in our staff, apart 
from enthusiasm and intelligence, are a 
mutually supportive and co-operative attitude 
and an open and constant communication. 

The Company’s employees have risen to 
the challenge magnificently in the last year 
and we are truly lucky to have them. 

Outlook
We expect the growth in the Asian economies 
and Brazil to continue, although at a lesser 
pace, and against that background the 
dislocations produced by the instability 
of the construct that is the Euro currency 
will be contained. 

We expect to see a year of great progress 
in our key projects. What opportunities may 
arise outside our existing portfolio we cannot 
foresee, nor whether we will be in a position 
to take advantage of them, but even if we 
have only our existing project pipeline to 
develop, the prospects are excellent and 
we will be kept busy. 

Andrew Bell
Executive Chairman
29 November 2011

We	expect	to	see	a	year	of	great	progress	
in	our	key	projects,	when	the	efforts	we	have	
made	over	the	last	two	years	bear	fruit.
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Corporate	social	responsibility	report

Responsible	behaviour	is	fundamental	to	our	success.	
In	order	to	deliver	projects	on	time	and	produce	value	
for	all	our	stakeholders	we	must	ensure	that	we	operate	
in	harmony	with	local	communities	and	their	environments.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
takes into account the contribution a 
company makes to society alongside its 
core business activities – namely, its social 
investment and philanthropy programmes 
– as well as responsible management of 
environmental impacts. 

Our employees are encouraged to 
understand the importance of safety, 
environment, and communities and to act 
with care and consideration at all times.

Environment
Exploration and mining have an inevitable 
impact on the landscape and habitats. These 
impacts can occur in many ways, and our 
policy is to follow the best international 
practice in minimising impacts. 

For our exploration work, we aim to rehabilitate 
the drill area to its original state.

In Kenya we have recently appointed an 
environmentalist who is endorsed by the 
National Environment Management Authority 
(NEMA) to ensure we are following best 
practice according to national policy.

Community Development
The very nature of our projects means that 
we most often operate in rural areas of low 
socio-economic wealth, often with poor levels 
of education and a lack of basic facilities 
such as clean water and electricity. 

Red Rock aims to actively contribute 
to socio-economic advancement in our 
licence areas around the world through 
engaging with the community, going 
beyond mere philanthropy and being 
responsible employees.

Kenya
The Migori project in Kenya is at the forefront 
of our community development programme 
and great progress is being made in ensuring 
Red Rock becomes a name synonymous 
with responsibility.

Our 2011 community investment activities 
in the Migori district include:

	 Education: providing building materials, 
installing solar panels, provision of funds 
for students unable to pay exam fees;

	 Engagement: keeping the locals informed 
of our activities and keeping an open 
channel of communication between 
the community and the Company;

	 Social activities: sponsorship of local 
football teams and tournaments;
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Artisanal miners gather to learn about health and safety in Migori, Kenya

With a history going back hundreds of years, the artisanal mining community has developed suspicion of companies coming into the region who have threatened 
their livelihood. Red Rock has already established a good working relationship with the local miners, educating them on health and safety and keeping them 
informed of company activities. We hope to set a high standard in the region for interaction with these historic mining groups.

	 On-going development: setting up 
a CSR committee to liaise with the 
community on behalf of the Company 
with elections to be held in early 2012;

	 Compensation: proper compensation 
for landowners;

	 Health and safety: education for artisanal 
miners on the dangers of working without 
safety equipment. This included the 
donation of safety kits;

	 Employment: Red Rock employs a 
mix of permanent and casual/rotational 
workers at wages much higher than the 
standard for the region. Training is provided 
for all our employees and health and 
safety is of key importance; and

	 Philanthropic activities: funeral 
transportation, building of roads, 
digging of boreholes and provision 
of water tanks amongst other activities. 
Requests for funds are assessed in 
order to make the best decision to 
benefit the broader community.

In 2012 we will be implementing a formal 
CSR programme which will expand on 
our social investment to date and aim 
to create a sustainable system of 
community development.

Colombia 
Mineras Four Points operates an extensive 
community development programme on 
the ground in Colombia. Activities include:

	 Health: nurses at the mine are available 
to the local community;

	 Education: provision of software and 
sponsorship of a variety of activities 
at local schools;

	 Environment: MFP conducts a rubbish 
and litter collection programme once a 
week from the local area;

	 Health and Safety: helping to dig 
holes for sanitation; and

	 Employment: we provide employment 
at higher wages than the area’s standard.

As in Kenya, the community development 
programme in Colombia is set to be 
developed over the course of 2012 
to path the way for sustainability.

Greenland 
Operations in Greenland are still at an early 
exploration stage; however our teams of 
geologists follow the best international practice 
during reconnaissance with regards to 
environmental care and social engagement.
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Board	of	Directors

Andrew Bell, MA, LLB, FGS
Executive Chairman 
Andrew Bell began his career as a natural resources analyst 
at Morgan Grenfell & Co. in the 1970s. His business experience 
encompasses periods in fund management and advisory work at 
leading financial institutions, international corporate finance work, 
and private equity. Andrew Bell’s listed company directorships are 
Regency Mines Plc (chairman), Greatland Gold Plc (chairman), 
Jupiter Mines Limited (director), Resource Star Ltd (chairman) and 
Cue Resources Inc.

Manoli Yannaghas, BA
Director 
Manoli Yannaghas is a former financial analyst working with international 
financial consultancy. Experienced with small companies including 
operations and corporate finance, for over ten years he has worked 
in various operational capacities within small and medium sized 
businesses. Manoli has experience with management and fund raising 
as well as other areas of corporate finance. He currently sits as 
non-executive director on a number of small fast growth companies. 
He is a former director of ASX-listed Resource Star Ltd. 

John Watkins, FCA
Non-executive Director  
John Watkins is a chartered accountant and a former partner of 
Ernst & Young and Neville Russell. He is a director of Starvest plc, 
a substantial shareholder of Regency Mines Plc, the Company’s 
controlling shareholder. In addition, he is a director of Regency 
Mines Plc and Greatland Gold Plc. Starvest Plc, Regency Mines Plc 
and Greatland Gold Plc are listed on AIM. He is chairman of Equity 
Resources Plc and Rare Earths and Metals Plc.
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Michael Nott, BSc, MSc, DIC, FIMMM, FMES, FIQ, C.Eng.
Non-executive Director 
Mike Nott is a geologist and mining engineer by profession and has 
35 years’ experience in the mining, minerals and quarrying industries. 
His early career was based in Zambia including nine years with 
Roan Consolidated Mines Ltd. He was a regional manager for 
Pioneer Aggregates (UK) Ltd then an Australian Company and later 
a director of Jay Minerals Services Ltd, Hills Aggregates Ltd, 
becoming trading director of ARC (Southern) Ltd and production 
director of C White Ltd. He is currently chairman and managing 
director of Alba Mineral Resources Plc and a director and CEO 
of Magyar Mining Ltd.

James Ladner, lic. oec. HSG
Non-executive Director 
James Ladner, a Swiss citizen, has over 40 years’ experience in the 
finance industry. After 28 years at Coutts Bank (Switzerland) Ltd, 
where he was an executive vice-president, he was for nine years 
chairman of Bank Austria (Switzerland) Ltd. He has also served as 
a director of The Royal Bank of Scotland AG, Interallianz Bank AG, 
Asahi Bank AG, F. Van Lanschot Bankiers (Switzerland) Ltd, Atlantic 
Finanz AG, Immofonds, Verit Immobilien and Ahold Finance Group. 
He was a member of the Swiss Admissions Commission for listing 
on the Swiss Stock Exchanges and of the Swiss Capital Market 
Commission of the Swiss National Bank. Outside Switzerland, he has 
served as director of a number of companies, including StrataGold 
Corporation, Pan Pacific Aggregates Plc, Colombia Gold Plc and 
Nevoro Inc. He is currently a director of Oracle Energy Corp., 
Colt Resources Inc., Royal Coal Corp., Ardent Mines Inc. and 
Guerrero Exploration Inc.
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their seventh annual report on the affairs of the Group and Parent Company, together with the Group financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2011.

Principal activities and business review
The Group was established as a mineral exploration and development company focussed on the discovery and development of gold, 
iron ore and other minerals. During the past year it concentrated principally on gold exploration in Kenya, gold production in Colombia 
and early stage iron ore exploration in Greenland.

The Group’s objective is to maximise shareholder value both by exploring for minerals and by taking strategic stakes in other mineral 
exploration ventures. The developments during the period are given in the Chairman’s Statement with a summary of significant agreements 
and transactions in note 22 to the financial statements.

Results and dividends
The Group’s results are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 27. The audited financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2011 are set out on pages 25 to 64.

The Group made a post tax profit of £10,259,984 (2010: £3,455,370).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

Fundraising and share capital
During the year, the Company raised £7,126,583 (2010: £1,738,570) of new equity by the issue of 140,074,476 Ordinary shares 
(2010: 119,065,420 shares); further details are given in note 18.

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Board’s strategy are subject to a number of risks as explained below. 
The key risks are:

			exploration is speculative in nature; there can never be certainty of outcome;

			the economic viability of a project is affected by world commodity prices; 

			commodity prices are subject to international economic trends, currency fluctuations and consumption patterns over which the 
Company has no control; and

			estimates of ore reserves are based on many assumptions and subjective judgements which may change significantly when new 
information becomes available.

Risk management
The Board considers risk assessment to be important in achieving its strategic objectives. There is a process of evaluation of performance 
targets through regular reviews by senior management to forecasts. Project milestones and timelines are regularly reviewed. Further 
details of the Group’s risk management policies can be found in note 21.

General and economic risks
The key risks are:

			contractions in the world’s major economies or increases in the rate of inflation resulting from international conditions;

			movements in the equity and share markets in the United Kingdom and throughout the world;

			weakness in global equity and share markets, in particular in the United Kingdom, and adverse changes in market sentiment towards 
the resource industry;

			currency exchange rate fluctuations and, in particular, the relative prices of the Australian Dollar, the Colombian Peso, the US Dollar, 
the Kenyan Shilling and the UK Pound;

			exposure to interest rate fluctuations; and

			adverse changes in factors affecting the success of exploration and development operations, such as increases in expenses, changes 
in government policy and further regulation of the industry; unforeseen major failure, breakdowns or repairs required to key items of 
plant and equipment resulting in significant delays, notwithstanding regular programmes of repair, maintenance and upkeep; 
variations in grades; and unforeseen adverse geological factors or prolonged weather conditions.

Funding risk
The Group or the companies in which it has invested may not be able to raise, either by debt or further equity, sufficient funds to enable 
completion of planned exploration, investment and/or development projects.
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Risk management continued
Commodity risk
Commodities are subject to high levels of volatility in price and demand. The price of commodities depends on a wide range of factors, 
most of which are outside the control of the Group. Mining, processing and transportation costs also depend on many factors, including 
commodity prices, capital and operating costs in relation to any operational site.

Exploration and development risks
			Exploration and development activity is subject to numerous risks, including failure to achieve estimated mineral resource, recovery 

and production rates and capital and operating costs.

			Success in identifying economically recoverable reserves can never be guaranteed. Also, the Group cannot guarantee that the companies 
in which it has invested will be able to obtain the necessary permits and approvals required for development of their projects.

			Some of the countries in which the Group operates have native title laws which could affect exploration and development activities. 
The companies in which the Group has an interest may be required to undertake clean-up programmes on any contamination from 
their operations or to participate in site rehabilitation programmes which may vary from country to country. The Group’s policy is to 
follow all applicable laws and regulations and the Group is not currently aware of any material issues in this regard.

			Timely approval of mining permits and operating plans through the respective regulatory agencies cannot be guaranteed. 

			Availability of skilled workers is an ongoing challenge.

			Geology is always a potential risk in mining activities.

Market risk
The ability of the Group, and the companies in which it invests, to continue to secure sufficient and profitable sales contracts to support 
its operations is a key business risk.

Key performance indicators
The Group analyses key performance indicators for gold production in Colombia, in particular the ore mined, the gold sold and the 
average grade of the ore. The Group started production of gold in February 2011 and by June 2011 production for the month had 
increased to 4,576 tons ore mined, at an average grade of 7.25 g/t and 474 oz sold.

As a mineral exploration business, a most important factor is a steadily improving market perception of the progress and value 
of the business leading to an improving share price, continued support from shareholders and therefore the ability to raise new 
equity capital at increasing prices thus minimising dilution for those early investors who bore significant risk. 

The Group therefore monitors the availability of sufficient cash to facilitate continued investment and to fund exploration programmes.

At 30 June 2011 the Group had cash and cash equivalents of £268,788 and undrawn facilities available in the SEDA of £8.1 million.

The market value of the most significant of the Group’s listed investments at 30 June 2011 is as follows:

			Resource Star Limited: £464,704; and

			Jupiter Mines Limited: £22,056,939.

Directors
The Directors who served at any time during the period to date are as follows: 

Andrew R M Bell  
James F Ladner – appointed 24 February 2011 
Michael C Nott  
Robert F Weicker – resigned 24 February 2011 
John Watkins 
Manoli G R Yannaghas 

Charitable and political donations
During the period the Group made no charitable or political contributions.
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Directors’ report continued

Payment of suppliers
The Group’s policy is to settle terms of payment with suppliers when agreeing terms of business, to ensure that suppliers are aware of 
the terms of payment and to abide by them. It is usual for suppliers to be paid within 30 days of receipt of invoice. Trade creditors at the 
year end were equivalent to 33 (2010: 28) days of costs.

Events after the reporting period
The events after the reporting period are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

Substantial shareholdings
On 30 June 2011 and 14 November 2011 the following were registered as being interested in 3% or more of the Company’s Ordinary 
share capital: 
     30 June 2011  14 November 2011

     Ordinary  Percentage  Ordinary Percentage 
     shares of of issued  shares of  of issued  
     £0.001 each share capital £0.001 each share capital

Regency Mines plc    145,764,666 20.13% 145,764,666 20.13%
TD Waterhouse Nominees (Europe) Limited    87,641,784 12.11% 89,382,027 12.35%
HSDL Nominees Limited    77,718,026 10.73% 56,857,634 7.85%
Barclayshare Nominees Limited    62,824,785 8.68% 66,937,692 9.25%
Hargreaves Lansdown (Nominees) Limited    48,548,137 6.71% 50,956,747 7.04%
James Capel (Nominees) Limited    41,461,225 5.73% 36,250,597 5.01%
LR Nominees Limited    37,691,332 5.21% 40,237,231 5.56%
Investor Nominees Limited    — — 30,206,346 4.17%

Total number of shares in issue    723,983,283  723,983,283 

Auditor
So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware and the Directors have 
taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

A resolution proposing the re-appointment of Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditor is contained in the notice of Annual General Meeting 
and will be put to shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Management incentives
In each of the years to 30 June 2007, 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2011, the Company granted options over a total of 39,500,000 Ordinary 
shares. As at 30 June 2011, 29,500,000 of these options were outstanding, as set out in note 20 to the financial statements.

Otherwise, the Group has no bonus, share purchase or other management incentive scheme. 

Directors’ remuneration report
The remuneration of the Executive Directors paid during the year was fixed on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee. 
The remuneration of the Non-executive Directors paid during the year was fixed on the recommendation of the Executive Directors. 
This has been achieved acknowledging the need to maximise the effectiveness of the Company’s limited resources during the year. 

A fee was paid to each Director for the year ended 30 June 2011. In addition, in each case fees and expenses were paid to businesses 
with which the Directors are associated as set out in note 6 to the financial statements.

Corporate governance statement
A corporate governance statement follows on page 23.

Control procedures
The Board has approved financial budgets and cash forecasts; in addition, it has implemented procedures to ensure compliance with 
accounting standards and effective reporting.
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Environmental responsibility
The Company is aware of the potential impact that its subsidiary companies may have on the environment. At a minimum, the Company 
ensures that it and its subsidiaries comply with the local regulatory requirements and the revised Equator Principles, the industry standard 
for environmental and social risk management. In Kenya, the Company has completed an environmental base line study of the Macalder 
tailings deposit to include acid rock drainage (“ARD”) analysis at the ALS Chemex laboratory in Vancouver. Consultants, Saint Barbara LLP, 
recently completed a site visit to the tailings dam and examined environmental legislation and regulatory requirements as part of a 
Scoping Study.

Employment policies
The Group is committed to promoting policies which ensure that high calibre employees are attracted, retained and motivated, to ensure 
the ongoing success of the business. Employees and those who seek to work within the Group are treated equally regardless of sex, 
marital status, creed, colour, race or ethnic origin. 

Health and safety
The Group’s aim is to achieve and maintain a high standard of workplace safety. In order to achieve this objective the Group provides 
training and support to employees and sets demanding standards for workplace safety.

Going concern
The Directors are of the opinion that ongoing evaluations of the Group’s interests indicate that preparation of the Group’s financial 
statements on a going concern basis is appropriate. For the first time, the Group’s income has arisen from sales of mined production 
as well as from transactions involving the sale of Group interests in mining tenements and projects. The Group expects to continue 
receiving regular interest and advisory income from Mineras Four Points SA. In addition, the Group has substantial and valuable 
shareholdings in listed companies, including Jupiter Mines Limited, and expects to be able to realise the value of part or all of these 
holdings should it need to do so. It also has available undrawn credit facilities as set out in note 2. The Directors do not anticipate any 
difficulty in raising new finance from stock markets if this is required during 2012. 

By order of the Board

Signed by:

Andrew Bell
Executive Chairman
29 November 2011



22 Red Rock Resources plc Annual report and accounts 2011

Statement of directors’ responsibilities 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company financial statements for each financial year. The Directors are 
required by the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange to prepare Group financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”) and have elected under company law to prepare 
the Company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

The financial statements are required by law and IFRS adopted by the EU to present fairly the financial position of the Group and 
the Company and the financial performance of the Group. The Companies Act 2006 provides in relation to such financial statements 
that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are references to their achieving 
a fair presentation.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 

In preparing the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors are required to:

			select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

			make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

			state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS adopted by the EU; and

			prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the 
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s and the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and the Company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Group and the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Red Rock 
Resources plc website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation 
in other jurisdictions. 
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Corporate governance statement

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority 
incorporate the UK Corporate Governance Code, which sets out the principles of Good Governance, and the Code of Best Practice 
for listed companies. The UK Corporate Governance Code does not apply to AIM companies. However, shareholders expect companies 
in which they invest to be properly governed and tend to use the UK Corporate Governance Code as a starting point. This represents 
the “gold standard” and is inappropriate for many AIM companies but there is no alternative code.

Following guidance of the Quoted Companies Alliance, the Company’s corporate governance procedures take due regard of the 
principles of good governance set out in the UK Corporate Governance Code in relation to the size and the stage of development 
of the Company.

Role of the Board
The Board has a responsibility to govern the Company rather than to manage it and in doing so act in the best interests of the Company 
as a whole. Each member of the Board is committed to spending sufficient time to enable them to carry out their duties as a Director. 
Non-executive Directors receive formal letters of appointment setting out the key terms, conditions, and expectations of their appointment. 

Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is responsible for formulating, reviewing and approving the Company’s strategy, financial activities and operating performance. 
Day to day management is devolved to the Executive Directors who are charged with consulting the Board on all significant financial 
and operational matters.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors currently comprises five Directors, two of whom are Executive Directors; of these, one is Executive Chairman and 
Chief Executive. There is one independent Non-executive Director, being James Ladner, and two Non-executive Directors who additionally 
provide professional services to the Company and who therefore do not qualify as independent. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the Board comprises a suitable balance and that the recommendations of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code have been implemented to an appropriate level. The Board, through the Executive Chairman, the Executive Director and the 
Non-executive Directors, maintains regular contact with its advisers and public relations consultants in order to ensure that the Board 
develops an understanding of the views of major shareholders about the Company.

All Directors have access to the advice of the Company’s solicitors and the Company Secretary, necessary information is supplied to the 
Directors on a timely basis to enable them to discharge their duties effectively, and all Directors have access to independent professional 
advice, at the Company’s expense, as and when required.

Executive Chairman
The Board acknowledges that, in having an Executive Chairman who is also the Chief Executive Officer, best practice is not being followed. 
However, it is the opinion of the Board as a whole that the current arrangements are appropriate to the Company and Group at this stage 
of development.

Board meetings
The Board meets regularly throughout the year. During the year ended 30 June 2011 the Board met six times in relation to normal 
operational matters.

Board committees
The Board has established the following committees, each of which has its own terms of reference:

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee considers the Group’s financial reporting, including accounting policies, and internal financial controls. The Audit 
Committee comprises two Non-executive Directors: John Watkins as Chairman and James Ladner. It is responsible for ensuring that the 
financial performance of the Group is properly monitored and reported on.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on Directors’ and senior Executives’ remuneration. 
It comprises two Non-executive Directors: John Watkins as Chairman and Mike Nott. Financial packages for Executive Directors are 
established by reference to those prevailing in the employment market for executives of equivalent status both in terms of level of 
responsibility of the position and their achievement of recognised job qualifications and skills. The committee will also have regard 
to the terms which may be required to attract an equivalent experienced executive to join the Board from another company.

Nominations Committee
The Board has not established a Nominations Committee. The Board considers that a separately established committee is not warranted at 
this stage of the Group’s development and that the functions of such a committee are being adequately discharged by the Board as a whole.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Ethical decision making
Confidentiality
In accordance with legal requirements and agreed ethical standards, Directors and all staff have agreed to maintain confidentiality 
of non-public information except where disclosure is authorised or legally mandated.

Bribery
In accordance with the provisions of the Bribery Act, all Directors and staff acknowledge that it is an offence under the act to engage 
in any form of bribery.

Share dealing
See paragraph relating to securities trading below.

Internal controls 
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal controls and for reviewing their effectiveness. These internal 
controls are designed to safeguard the assets of the Group and to ensure the reliability of financial information for both internal use and 
external publication. Whilst they are aware that no system can provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, in the 
light of increased activity and further development of the Group, continuing reviews of internal controls will be undertaken to ensure that 
they are adequate and effective. 

Insurance
The Group maintains insurance in respect of its Directors and officers against liabilities in relation to the Company. 

Treasury policy
The Group finances its operations through equity and holds its cash as a liquid resource to fund the obligations of the Group. 
Decisions regarding the management of these assets are approved by the Board.

Securities trading
The Board has adopted the Share Dealing Code contained within the AIM rules that applies to Directors, senior management and any 
employee who is in possession of “inside information”. All such persons are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities if they 
are in possession of “inside information”. Subject to this condition and trading prohibitions applying to “close periods” (usually two months 
prior to the publication of the interim and final audited accounts), trading can occur provided the relevant individual has received the 
appropriate prescribed clearance. All Directors and staff are required to advise the Executive Chairman of their intention to undertake a 
transaction in the Company’s shares. Such a transaction will be precluded if the Director or employee is considered to be in possession 
of non-public material information.

Relations with shareholders
The Board recognises that it is accountable to shareholders for the performance and activities of the Company and Group and to this 
end is committed to providing effective communication with the shareholders of the Company. 

Significant developments are disseminated through stock exchange announcements and regular updates of the Company website 
where descriptions of the Group projects are available and updated regularly. In addition, copies of press comments, broker notes, 
video updates and presentations are available. On the website, shareholders may sign up to receive news releases directly by email. 

The Board views the Annual General Meeting as an important forum for communication between the Company and its shareholders 
and encourages shareholders to express their views on the Group’s business activities and performance.
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Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Red Rock Resources plc

We have audited the financial statements of Red Rock Resources plc for the year ended 30 June 2011 which comprise the consolidated 
and Parent Company statements of financial position, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity, the consolidated and Parent Company statements 
of cash flow and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company financial 
statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 22, the Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (“APB’s”) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the APB’s website at www.frc.org.uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

			the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 30 June 2011 
and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended; 

			the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union; 

			the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

			the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

			adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

			the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

			certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

			we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Christopher Smith
Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
London
29 November 2011



26 Red Rock Resources plc Annual report and accounts 2011

Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2011

       30 June 30 June 
       2011 2010 
      Notes  £ £

ASSETS   
Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment     8 13,327,546 5,100
Investments in associates      10 975,732 7,332,533
Available for sale financial assets     11 24,472,120 1,373,680
Other financial assets     12 4,095,696 —
Exploration assets     13 501,062 295,616

Total non-current assets      43,372,156 9,006,929

Current assets   
Cash and cash equivalents     14 268,788 563,198
Other receivables     15 6,658,183 1,126,897

Total current assets      6,926,971 1,690,095

TOTAL ASSETS      50,299,127 10,697,024

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the parent 
Called up share capital     18 723,983 583,908
Share premium account      13,041,125 6,347,920
Other reserves      2,751,616 (350,069)
Retained earnings      13,988,004 2,017,768

Total      30,504,728 8,599,527
Non-controlling interest      2,339,130 —

Total equity      32,843,858 8,599,527

LIABILITIES  
Current liabilities   
Trade and other payables     16 4,032,785 235,058
Short-term borrowings     16 1,750,450 760,323
Current tax liabilities      84,085 909,030

Total current liabilities      5,867,320 1,904,411

Non-current liabilities   
Long-term borrowings     16 2,817,500 —
Deferred tax liabilities     17 8,770,449 193,086

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      50,299,127 10,697,024

These financial statements on pages 25 to 64 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 29 November 2011 
and are signed on its behalf by:

Andrew Bell John Watkins
Executive Chairman Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 30 June 2011

       Year to Year to 
       30 June  30 June 
       2011 2010 
      Notes £ £

Revenue 
Management services      64,076 8,956
Sale of minerals      878,535 —

Total revenue      942,611 8,956

Gain on sales of investments      1,215,666 519,636
Gain on sales of exploration assets      169,322 3,527,968
Profit on transfer of investment from associate    2 14,238,297 2,018,255
Cost of sale of minerals      (1,463,251) —
Gain on dilution of interest in associate      252,947 259,174
Impairment of investment in associate      (70,298) (89,601)
Impairment of available for sale investment      — (20,090)
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     3,647,104 —
Exploration expenses      (781,169)  (197,622)
Impairment of exploration assets      (261,224) —
Administrative expenses      (3,487,603) (683,658)
Share of losses of associates      (386,228) (519,220)
Finance costs      (42,637) (69,241)

Profit for the year before taxation     3 13,973,537 4,754,557
Tax expense     4 (3,713,553) (1,299,187)

Profit for the year       10,259,984 3,455,370

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent      11,924,606 3,455,370
Non-controlling interest      (1,664,622) —

       10,259,984 3,455,370

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent:
Basic      7 1.78 pence 0.65 pence
Diluted     7 1.71 pence 0.62 pence

All of the operations are considered to be continuing.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 30 June 2011

       30 June  30 June 
       2011 2010 
      Notes £ £

Profit for the year      10,259,984 3,455,370
Other comprehensive income
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of available for sale investment   11 4,082,474 (140,850)
Deferred tax on revaluation of available for sale investments    17 (1,061,795) 513,641 
Losses on revaluation of available for sale investments  
reclassified to the consolidated statement of income     — (1,842,117)
Group’s share of associates’ other comprehensive income     — (45,933)
Deferred tax on associates     17 — 10,989
Unrealised foreign currency loss arising upon retranslation of foreign operations   (53,778) (9,339)

Total comprehensive income net of tax for the year      13,226,885 1,941,761

Total comprehensive income net of tax attributable to:
Owners of the parent      14,891,507 1,941,761
Non-controlling interest      (1,664,622) —

       13,226,885 1,941,761

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The movements in equity during the period were as follows:
      Total 
   Share   attributable to 
  Share premium  Retained  Other owners of Non-controlling Total  
  capital  account  earnings  reserves  the parent  interest equity 
  £ £ £ £ £ £ £

As at 30 June 2009 464,843 4,853,650 (1,440,607) 1,166,545 5,044,431 — 5,044,431

Changes in equity for 2010    
Profit for the year — — 3,455,370 — 3,455,370 — 3,455,370
Other comprehensive  
(expense) for the year — — — (1,513,609) (1,513,609) — (1,513,609)
Transactions with owners
Issue of shares 119,065 1,619,505 — — 1,738,570 — 1,738,570
Share issue costs — (125,235) — — (125,235) — (125,235)
Share-based payment transfer — — 3,005 (3,005) — — —

Total transactions with owners 119,065 1,494,270 3,005 (3,005) 1,613,335 — 1,613,335

As at 30 June 2010 583,908 6,347,920 2,017,768 (350,069) 8,599,527 — 8,599,527

Changes in equity for 2011    
Profit/(loss) for the year — — 11,924,606 — 11,924,606 (1,664,622) 10,259,984
Other comprehensive  
income for the year — — — 2,966,901 2,966,901 — 2,966,901
Transactions with owners
Issue of shares 140,075 6,986,508 — — 7,126,583 — 7,126,583
Share issue costs — (293,303) — — (293,303) — (293,303)
On acquisition of subsidiary — — — — — 4,003,752 4,003,752
Share-based payment charge — — — 180,414 180,414 — 180,414
Share-based payment transfer — — 45,630 (45,630) — — —

Total transactions with owners 140,075 6,693,205 45,630 134,784 7,013,694 4,003,752 10,837,032

As at 30 June 2011 723,983 13,041,125 13,988,004 2,751,616 30,504,728 2,339,130 32,843,858

    Available  
    for sale   Foreign  
    trade  Associate currency Share-based Total 
    investments  investments translation payment other 
    reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves 
    £ £ £ £ £

As at 30 June 2009   1,115,809 (91,282) 6,750 135,268 1,166,545

Changes in equity for 2010   
Profit for the year   — — — — —
Other comprehensive (expense) for the year  (1,469,326) (34,944) (9,339) — (1,513,609)
Transactions with owners   
Share-based payment charge   — — — (3,005) (3,005)

Total transactions with owners   — — — (3,005) (3,005)

As at 30 June 2010   (353,517) (126,226) (2,589) 132,263 (350,069)

Changes in equity for 2011   
Profit for the year   — — — — —
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year  3,020,679 — (53,778) — 2,966,901
Transactions with owners   
Share-based payment charge   — — — 180,414 180,414
Share-based payment transfer   — — — (45,630) (45,630)

Total transactions with owners   — — — 134,784 134,784

As at 30 June 2011   2,667,162 (126,226) (56,367) 267,047 2,751,616

See note 19 for a description of each reserve included above. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2011

       Year to Year to 
       30 June 30 June  
       2011  2010 
       £ £

Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit before taxation       13,973,537 4,754,557
(Increase) in receivables       (5,931,785) (852,355) 
Increase in payables       1,427,361 55,075
Share of losses in associates      386,228  519,221
Interest receivable       (150,170) (7,336)
Interest payable       192,807 17,843
Finance costs       — 58,734 
Impairment of exploration properties      261,224 —
Exploration expenses       — 197,622 
Share-based payments      180,414 —
Currency adjustments       26,500 (14,852) 
Impairment of associate       70,298 89,601
Impairment of available for sale investment       — 20,090
Gain on dilution of interest in associates       (252,947) (259,174) 
Profit on sale of investments       (1,215,666) (519,636) 
Profit on transfer of available for sale investment from associate     (14,238,297) (2,018,255)
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     (3,647,104) —
Depreciation       710,735 2,345 
Profit on disposal of exploration properties      — (3,527,968) 

Net cash (outflow) from operations       (8,206,865) (1,484,488) 

Corporation tax paid      (826,951) —

Net cash used in operations       (9,033,816) (1,484,488) 

Cash flows from investing activities  
Interest received       150,170 7,336 
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash       (2,752,682) —
Proceeds of sale of investments       3,816,061 1,700,629 
Payments to acquire associate company investments     (450,637)  (354,284) 
Payments to acquire available for sale investments      (774,207) (1,502,165) 
Exploration expenditure       (504,364) (142,905) 
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment      (1,193,039) (7,445) 
Net proceeds of exploration assets disposed of     — —

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities      (1,708,694) (298,834) 

Cash flows from financing activities  
Proceeds from issue of shares       7,126,583 1,738,570 
Transaction costs of issue of shares       (293,303) (125,235) 
Interest paid       (192,807) (17,843) 
Finance costs       (53,140) (111,874)
Proceeds of new borrowings       3,860,767 813,463

Net cash inflow from financing activities       10,448,100 2,297,081 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents      (294,410) 513,759 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period      563,198 49,439 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period      268,788 563,198 

The accompanying notes and accounting policies form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2011

       30 June 30 June 
       2011 2010 
      Notes  £ £

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment     8 26,565 4,667
Investments in subsidiaries     9 4,004,072 482
Investments in associates     10 1,505,661 7,892,226
Available for sale financial assets     11 24,472,120 1,373,680
Other financial assets     12 4,095,696 —
Exploration assets     13 501,062 147,242

Total non-current assets      34,605,176 9,418,297

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents     14 42,166 562,550
Other receivables     15 6,459,960 1,282,474

Total current assets      6,502,126 1,845,024

TOTAL ASSETS      41,107,302 11,263,321

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Called up share capital     18 723,983 583,908
Share premium account      13,041,125 6,347,920
Other reserves      2,935,560 (221,254)
Retained earnings      14,699,021 2,321,571

Total equity      31,399,689 9,032,145

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables     16 2,539,729 217,620
Short-term borrowings     16 1,750,450 760,323
Current tax liabilities      84,085 909,030

Total current liabilities      4,374,264 1,886,973

Non-current liabilities   
Deferred tax liabilities     17 5,333,349 344,203

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       41,107,302 11,263,321

These financial statements on pages 25 to 64 were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 29 November 2011 
and are signed on its behalf by:

Andrew Bell John Watkins
Executive Chairman Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2011

The movements in equity during the period were as follows:
     Share  
    Share premium  Retained  Other Total  
    capital  account  earnings  reserves  equity 
    £ £ £ £ £

As at 30 June 2009   464,843 4,853,650 (1,358,447) 1,251,077 5,211,123

Changes in equity for 2010   
Profit for the year   — — 3,677,013 — 3,677,013
Other comprehensive (expense) for the year  — — — (1,469,326) (1,469,326)
Transactions with owners 
Issue of shares   119,065 1,619,505 — — 1,738,570
Share issue costs   — (125,235) — — (125,235)
Share-based payment transfer   — — 3,005 (3,005) —

Total transactions with owners    119,065 1,494,270 3,005 (3,005) 1,613,335

As at 30 June 2010   583,908 6,347,920 2,321,571 (221,254) 9,032,145

Changes in equity for 2011   
Profit for the year   — — 12,331,820 — 12,331,820
Other comprehensive income for the year   — — — 3,022,030 3,022,030
Transactions with owners 
Issue of shares   140,075 6,986,508 — — 7,126,583
Share issue costs   — (293,303) — — (293,303)
Share-based payment charge   — — — 180,414 180,414
Share-based payment transfer   — — 45,630 (45,630) —

Total transactions with owners   140,075 6,693,205 45,630 134,784 7,013,694

As at 30 June 2011   723,983 13,041,125 14,699,021 2,935,560 31,399,689

     Available Available   
     for sale  for sale trade Share-based Total 
     associate  investments payment other 
     reserve reserve reserve reserves 
     £ £ £ £

As at 30 June 2009    — 1,115,809 135,268 1,251,077

Changes in equity for 2010
Profit for the year    — — — —
Other comprehensive (expense) for the year   — (1,469,326) — (1,469,326)
Transactions with owners
Share-based payment transfer    — — (3,005) (3,005)

Total transactions with owners    — — (3,005) (3,005)

As at 30 June 2010    — (353,517) 132,263 (221,254)

Changes in equity for 2011
Profit for the year    — — — —
Other comprehensive income for the year    — 3,022,030 — 3,022,030
Transactions with owners
Share-based payment charge    — — 180,414 180,414
Share-based payment transfer    — — (45,630) (45,630)

Total transactions with owners    — — 134,784 134,784

As at 30 June 2011    — 2,668,513 267,047 2,935,560

See note 19 for a description of each reserve included above. 



33Red Rock Resources plcAnnual report and accounts 2011

Company statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2011

       30 June 30 June  
       2011  2010 
       £ £

Cash flows from operating activities       
Profit before taxation      16,255,761  5,009,961
(Increase) in receivables       (5,626,078) (967,687)
Increase in payables      1,075,693  39,928
Interest receivable      (150,170) (7,336)
Interest payable      83,182 17,843
Finance costs      179 58,733
Impairment of exploration properties      150,542 —
Exploration expenses      — 185,530
Share-based payments      180,414 —
Impairment of associate      77,245 89,601
Impairment of subsidiary      482 —
Impairment of available for sale investment      — 20,090
Profit on sale of investments      (1,215,666) (519,636)
Profit on transfer of available for sale investment from associate    (14,080,848) (2,018,255)
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     (3,647,104) —
Depreciation      6,751  2,333
Profit on disposal of exploration properties      — (3,491,369)

Net cash (outflow) from operations      (6,889,617) (1,580,264)

Corporation tax paid      (821,535) —

Net cash used in operations      (7,711,152) (1,580,264)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received      150,170 7,336
Proceeds of sale of investments      3,816,063 1,700,629
Payments to acquire subsidiary      (2,757,656) —
Payments to acquire associate company investments     (450,637) (305,551)
Payments to acquire available for sale investments     (774,207) (1,502,165)
Exploration expenditure      (504,362) (94,499)
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment     (28,649) (7,000)
Net proceeds of exploration assets disposed of     — —

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities     (549,278) (201,250)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares      7,126,583 1,738,570
Transaction costs of issue of shares      (293,303) (125,235)
Interest paid      (83,182) (17,843)
Finance costs      (53,319) (111,874)
Proceeds of new borrowings      1,043,267 813,463

Net cash inflow from financing activities      7,740,046 2,297,081

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents     (520,384) 515,567
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period      562,550 46,983

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     42,166 562,550

The accompanying notes and accounting policies form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Principal accounting policies
1.1 Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with IFRS
The Group financial statements of Red Rock Resources plc for the year ended 30 June 2011 were authorised for issue by the 
Board on 29 November 2011 and the statement of financial position signed on the Board’s behalf by Andrew Bell and John Watkins. 
Red Rock Resources plc is a public limited company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The Company’s Ordinary 
shares are traded on AIM.

1.2 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and IFRIC interpretations 
as endorsed by the EU (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the Companies Act applicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments. 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Company statement of comprehensive income
As permitted by Section 408 Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its own income statement or statement of comprehensive 
income. The Company’s profit for the financial year was £12,331,820 (2010: £3,677,013). The Company’s other comprehensive income 
for the financial year was £3,022,030 (2010: loss £1,469,326).

Amendments to published standards effective for the year ended 30 June 2011
The following standards have been adopted during the year:

			IAS 1 (Revised) “Presentation of Financial Statements”;

			IAS 7 (Revised) “Statement of Cash Flows”;

			IAS 17 (Revised) “Leases”;

			IAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”;

			IAS 32 (Revised) “Financial Instruments: Presentation”;

			IAS 36 (Revised) “Impairment of Assets”;

			IAS 39 (Revised) “Financial Instruments: Measurement”.

Although the adoption of these amendments has had no impact on the financial position and performance of the Group, additional 
disclosures have been provided to comply with the revised standards.

Standards adopted early by the Group
The Group has not adopted any standards or interpretations early in either the current or the preceding financial year.

Adoption of standards and interpretations
As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there were standards and interpretations in issue but that are not yet effective 
and have not been applied in these financial statements, as listed below:

Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not effective
			IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosure (amendment)”;

			IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement”; 

			IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”;

			IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”;

			IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”;

			IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”;

			IAS 12 “Income Taxes (amendment)”;

			IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures (revised)”; and

			IAS 28 “Investments in Associates (revised)”.

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods could have a material effect on 
the financial position or performance of the Group and Company, other than the introduction of IFRS 10 which could affect the financial 
position and performance and IFRS 12 which is likely to increase the level of disclosure required in respect of the Group’s investments.

IFRS 10 is a new standard which establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements. As a 
result of its publication, the Directors will be required to consider the application of the revised definition of control to determine whether 
additional entities will need to be consolidated and whether consolidation is still appropriate for those that currently are.
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1 Principal accounting policies continued
1.2 Basis of preparation continued
Standards, amendments and interpretations in issue but not effective continued
The new definition of control will require the directors to consider whether the Company has:

a) power over the investee

b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and

c) the ability to use power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s returns.

The financial effect of such changes on the Group has not yet been reliably estimated. However, it is widely expected, irrespective of industry 
sector and without specific reference to the Group, that the adoption of IFRS 10 is likely to result in more entities being consolidated.

1.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
Significant accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events. 
The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain 
assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 

Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments 
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model.

Going concern
As detailed in the final paragraph of the Directors’ report, the Directors have complete confidence in their ability to raise further capital 
and that their efforts will generate sufficient ongoing cash to meet the Company’s outgoings for the foreseeable future. On this basis 
the Directors believe it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements on a going concern basis.

Transfer of investments between available for sale financial assets and investments in associate
The Directors classify, as an associate, equity investments where the Company is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not 
control or jointly control, through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

Significant influence is presumed when the Company holds greater than 20% of the voting power of the investee, unless it can be clearly 
demonstrated that this is not the case. Conversely, if the Company holds less than 20% of the voting power of an investee, it is presumed 
that the Company does not have significant influence, unless such influence can be clearly demonstrated.

Where significant influence exists, the entity is accounted for as an associate. Where significant influence does not exist, the entity 
is accounted for as an available for sale financial asset. 

For acquisitions of associates in stages, the Company re-measures its previously held equity interests in the acquiree at its acquisition 
date fair value and recognises the resulting gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are transferred to profit and loss.

Where the Company’s holding is diluted to less than 20%, and significant influence is deemed to have been lost, the Company recognises 
a gain or loss on dilution in profit and loss. This is calculated as the difference between the Company’s share of proceeds received for 
the dilutive share issue and the value of the Company’s effective disposal. On recognition as an available for sale financial asset, the 
Company’s holding in the investment is measured at fair value, with any gain or loss being recognised in profit and loss. Subsequent 
re-measurements at each reporting period are recognised in equity in accordance with IAS 39.

Significant judgements in applying the accounting policies
Impairment of available for sale financial assets
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when an available for sale financial asset and investment in an associate 
is impaired. This determination requires significant judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, 
the duration and extent to which fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

As a result of this review the Group has fully impaired its investment in Range Mines Limited and Red Rock Zambia Limited. 

No impairment to the carrying value of Resource Star is considered necessary as there is no significant variance between the market 
value and carrying value. An adjustment to bring the carrying value in line with the market value would result in a loss of £31,851.

Recognition of holdings less than 20% as an associate
The Company owns 15% of the issued share capital of Mid Migori Mining Company Limited (“MMM”). During the year, Andrew Bell 
was appointed to the board of MMM. In accordance with IAS 28, the Directors of the Company consider this, and the input of resource 
by the Company in respect of drilling and analytical activities, to provide the Group with significant influence as defined by the standard. 
As such, MMM has been recognised as an associate for the year ended 30 June 2011.

The effect of recognising MMM as an available for sale financial asset would be to increase the profit by £14,762.
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Principal accounting policies continued
1.3 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions continued
Significant judgements in applying the accounting policies continued
Recognition of holdings greater than 20% as available for sale financial assets
At 30 June 2011, the Company held 35.20% of the issued share capital of Kansai Mining Corporation Limited. The Company has no 
influence on the board of Kansai and does not have any control over its activities. Therefore the presumption of significant influence 
has been rebutted in accordance with IAS 28 and Kansai has been recognised as an available for sale financial asset.

Transfer of Jupiter Mines Limited and Ascot Mining plc to available for sale financial assets
During the year, the Company’s holdings in both Jupiter Mines Limited and Ascot Mining plc were diluted below 20%. As such, both 
were derecognised as associates and transferred to available for sale financial assets, with a gain on dilution of £252,947, and a gain 
on initial recognition as available for sale of £14,238,297.

The Directors consider the percentage shareholding to fairly represent the influence they have over these particular companies so have 
followed presumed accounting convention in recognising these companies in this manner.

Capitalisation of exploration costs as an intangible asset
The Directors have classified exploration expenditure under an agreement with North Atlantic Mining Associates Limited (“NAMA”) 
as an intangible exploration asset under the terms of IFRS 6. The Directors consider this best reflects the commercial substance 
of the transaction. As such the asset is held at cost.

The Directors do not believe the provisions of IAS 39 apply to this transaction, which would otherwise require the asset to be held at fair 
value as a financial instrument.

Valuation of mine as part of acquisition of American Gold Mines Limited
The Group acquired mines on acquisition of a subsidiary in the year.

The Directors carried out internal due diligence and obtained geological surveys.

The mine value, held at cost in the subsidiary, was uplifted to fair value on acquisition. The Directors believe the consideration paid for 
the subsidiary equals the fair value of the net assets acquired. They do not believe any intangible assets or goodwill were acquired as 
part of the agreement. IFRS 3 disclosures surrounding the acquisition in the year can be found in note 9.

1.4 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group incorporate the financial statements of the Company and subsidiaries controlled 
by the Company made up to 30 June each year. 

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain economic 
benefits from their activities. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is obtained, the acquisition date, up until 
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, contingent consideration and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange. Costs directly attributable to the acquisition are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date.

Provisional fair values are adjusted against goodwill if additional information is obtained within one year of the acquisition date, about 
facts or circumstances existing at the acquisition date. Other changes in provisional fair values are recognised through profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are measured at the proportionate share of the fair value of their identifiable net assets.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated 
on consolidation, except to the extent that intra-group losses indicate an impairment. 

For the year ended 30 June 2011, the consolidated financial statements combine those of the Company with those of its subsidiaries, 
Red Rock Australasia Pty Ltd, American Gold Mines Limited and Mineras Four Points SA.

The Group’s dormant subsidiary, Intrepid Resources Limited, has been excluded from consolidation on the basis of the exemption 
provided by Section 405(2) of the Companies Act 2006 that its inclusion is not material for the purpose of giving a true and fair view.

Non-controlling interests
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are allocated between the aims of the parent and non-controlling 
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. Any differences 
between the adjustment for the non-controlling interest and the fair value of consideration paid or received are recognised in equity.
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1 Principal accounting policies continued
1.4 Basis of consolidation continued
Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control or jointly control, through 
participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee.

Investments in associates are recognised in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. The Group’s share 
of post acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss and its share of post acquisition movements in other comprehensive income 
are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. The carrying value of the investment, including goodwill, is tested for impairment 
when there is objective evidence of impairment. Losses in excess of the Group’s interest in those associates are not recognised unless 
the Group has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Where a Group company transacts with an associate of the Group, unrealised gains are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the relevant associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred in which case appropriate provision is made for impairment.

In the Company accounts investments in associates are recognised and held at cost. The carrying value of the investment is tested for 
impairment when there is objective evidence of impairment.

1.5 Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided on taxable profits at the current rate. The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax expense 
and deferred tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from accounting profit as reported in the statement 
of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further 
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is measured using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from 
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction which affects neither the 
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and 
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled 
based upon tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss, except when it relates to items credited or charged directly to equity, in which case 
the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity, or items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income, in which case the 
deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the 
deferred tax relates to income tax levied by the same tax authorities on either:

			the same taxable entity; or

			different taxable entities which intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or to realise and settle them 
simultaneously in each future period when the significant deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be realised or settled.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings are stated at cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation.

Assets in the course of construction are stated at cost, less any identified impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets commences 
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Field equipment and fixtures and fittings are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, 
on the following bases:

Mines 5% per annum 
Field equipment 33% per annum 
Fixtures and fittings 10% per annum 
Assets under construction not depreciated until brought into use
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

1 Principal accounting policies continued
1.7 Foreign currencies
Both the functional and presentational currency of Red Rock Resources plc is Sterling (£). Each Group entity determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiaries are Australian Dollars (“Au$”) and Colombian Pesos.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company are initially recorded at the exchange rate prevailing on the 
dates of the transaction. At each reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the exchange rate prevailing at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Gains and losses arising on retranslation 
are included in profit or loss for the period, except for exchange differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are recognised 
directly in other comprehensive income when the changes in fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated into the Group’s presentational currency 
at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period 
unless exchange rates have fluctuated significantly during the year, in which case the exchange rate at the date of the transaction is used. 
All exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as other comprehensive income and are transferred to the Group’s foreign currency 
translation reserve.

1.8 Revenue
Revenue is recognised when revenue and associated costs can be measured reliably and future economic benefits are probable. Revenue 
is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, 
net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes.

Sales of minerals are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed. Delivery occurs when the products have arrived at the 
specified location and the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer. Extracted minerals are made available 
for sale for a designated period each month and sold immediately.

Revenue from management services is recognised on an accruals basis when the services have been delivered and any associate costs 
have been incurred.

1.9 Exploration assets
Exploration assets comprise exploration and development costs incurred on prospects at an exploratory stage. These costs include the 
cost of acquisition, exploration, determination of recoverable reserves, economic feasibility studies and all technical and administrative 
overheads directly associated with those projects. These costs are carried forward in the statement of financial position as non-current 
intangible assets less provision for identified impairments.

Recoupment of exploration and development costs is dependent upon successful development and commercial exploitation of each 
area of interest and will be amortised over the expected commercial life of each area once production commences. The Group and the 
Company currently have no exploration assets where production has commenced.

The Group adopts the “area of interest” method of accounting whereby all exploration and development costs relating to an area of interest 
are capitalised and carried forward until abandoned. In the event that an area of interest is abandoned, or if the Directors consider the 
expenditure to be of no value, accumulated exploration costs are written off in the financial year in which the decision is made. All expenditure 
incurred prior to approval of an application is expensed, with the exception of refundable rent, which is raised as a receivable.

Upon disposal, the difference between the fair value of consideration receivable for exploration assets and the relevant cost within 
non-current assets is recognised in the statement of income.

Exploration costs
All costs incurred prior to obtaining the legal right to undertake exploration and evaluation activities on a project are written off as incurred.

1.10 Share-based payments
The Group operates an equity-settled share-based payment arrangement whereby the fair value of services provided is determined 
indirectly by reference to the fair value of the instrument granted.

The fair value of options granted to Directors and others in respect of services provided is recognised as an expense in the statements 
of income with a corresponding increase in equity reserves – the share-based payment reserve.

On exercise or cancellation of share options, the proportion of the share-based payment reserve relevant to those options is transferred 
to retained earnings. On exercise, equity is also increased by the amount of the proceeds received.

The fair value is measured at grant date and charged in the accounting period during which the option becomes unconditional.

The fair value of options is calculated using the Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
options were granted. There are no market vesting conditions. The exercise price is fixed at the date of grant.
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1 Principal accounting policies continued
1.11 Finance costs/revenue
Borrowing costs are recognised on an accruals basis using the effective interest method.

Finance revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised cost 
of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.12 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised where the Group has become party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
Investments
Investments in subsidiary companies are classified as non-current assets and included in the statement of financial position of the Company 
at cost at the date of acquisition less any identified impairments.

Investments in associate companies are classified as non-current assets and included in the statement of financial position of the Company 
at cost at the date of acquisition less any identified impairments.

For acquisitions of subsidiaries or associates achieved in stages, the Company re-measures its previously held equity interests in the 
acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and recognises the resulting gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are transferred to profit and loss.

Available for sale financial assets
Equity investments intended to be held for an indefinite period of time are classified as available for sale investments. They are carried 
at fair value, where this can be reliably measured, with movements in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and debited 
or credited to the available for sale trade investments reserve. Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured, the investment is carried 
at cost or a lower valuation where the Directors consider the value of the investment to be impaired.

Available for sale investments are included within non-current assets. On disposal, the difference between the carrying amount and the 
sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had previously been recognised directly in reserves is recognised 
in the statement of income.

Income from available for sale investments is accounted for in the statement of income when the right to receive it has been established.

Derivative financial instruments
All derivative financial instruments are initially and subsequently recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value. 
Changes in the fair value are recognised in profit and loss in accordance with IAS 39.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30 day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectable amounts. 

An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts. Bad debts 
are written off when identified.

After initial recognition these assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.

Financial liabilities and equity
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior 
to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services.

Short-term borrowings
Short term borrowings are recorded initially at their fair value, net of direct transaction costs. Such instruments are subsequently carried 
at their amortised cost and finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption, are recognised in profit or loss 
over the term of the instrument using an effective rate of interest.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at fair value at initial recognition net of transaction costs.
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2 Segmental analysis   
Now that the Group has commenced production, the Group’s main focus of operations includes the analysis of margins, revenues and 
overheads from the Group’s Colombian subsidiary as well as monitoring exploration expenditure and ensuring there is adequate cash 
available to meet operational obligations and provide for investment opportunities.

Sources of funds available to the Group include consultancy fees and loan interest payments from the Colombian subsidiary. In addition, 
funds can be raised by issues of new equity and sales of exploration rights, investments or other assets. Therefore, in addition to monitoring 
the current market perception of the Company by Shareholders, brokers and other possible providers of equity finance, constant attention 
is paid to:

			available cash;

			the balance available in the standby equity distribution agreement (“SEDA”) with YA Global Master SPV Limited advised 
by Yorkville Advisors LLC; and

			the market value of the Group’s listed investments.

At 30 June 2011 the Group had cash and cash equivalents of £268,788 and undrawn facilities available in the SEDA of £8.1 million.

The market value of the most significant of Group’s listed investments at 30 June 2011 is as follows:

			Resource Star Limited: £464,704; and

			Jupiter Mines Limited: £22,056,939.

As the Group makes the transition from being simply a mineral explorer to becoming an exploration and production business, the Group 
has disclosed its Mining and Exploration activities as separate segments. These are in addition to the investment activities which continue 
to form a significant segment of the business.

The Group has made a strategic decision to concentrate on two commodities, gold and iron ore. However, as the Group is currently only 
in the production phase of gold, a further segmental analysis by commodity has not been presented. 

In accordance with IFRS 8, an analysis of revenue by country in which it is earned has been presented. This is not used by management 
in making operating decisions.
     Investment  Mining  Exploration  Other

    Jupiter      Corporate   
    Mines Ascot Other Colombian Australian African and  
    Limited Mining plc investments Mining exploration exploration unallocated Total 
Year to 30 June 2011   £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Revenue     
Management services   — — — — — — 64,076 64,076
Sale of minerals   — — — 878,535 — — — 878,535

Total segment revenue  — — — 878,535 — — 64,076 942,611

Gain on sales of investments  1,213,691 1,975 — — — — — 1,215,666
Gain on sale of exploration assets  — — — — 169,322 — — 169,322
Profit on transfer of  
investment from associate  13,978,108 260,189 — — — — — 14,238,297
Cost of sale of minerals  — — — (1,463,251) — — — (1,463,251)
Exceptional gain on  
dilution of interest in associate  267,017 (23,928) 9,858 — — — — 252,947
Impairment of associate investment  — — (70,298) — — — — (70,298)
Financial assets at fair value  
through profit and loss   — 3,647,104 — — — — — 3,647,104
Exploration expenses   — — — (466,089) (221,260) (4,984) (88,836) (781,169)
Impairment of exploration expenses — — — — (110,682) (150,542) — (261,224)
Administrative expenses  — — — (1,028,753) — — (2,499,264) (3,528,017)
Currency gain   — — — — — — 40,414 40,414
Shares of losses in associates  (140,459) (19,242) (226,527) — — — — (386,228)
Finance cost (net)   — — — (85,876) — — 43,239 (42,637)

Net profit/(loss) before tax  
from continuing activities  15,318,357 3,866,098 (286,967) (2,165,434) (162,620) (155,526) (2,440,371) 13,973,537
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2 Segmental analysis continued 
      Investment   Exploration  Other

      Jupiter    Corporate   
      Mines Other Australian African and  
      Limited investments exploration exploration unallocated Total 
Year to 30 June 2010     £ £ £ £ £ £

Revenue 
Management services      — — — —  8,956  8,956
Gain on sales of investments     457,253  62,383 — — —  519,636
Gain on sale of exploration assets     — —  3,527,968  — — 3,527,968
Profit on transfer to associate     2,018,255 — — — —  2,018,255
Gain on dilution of interest in associate    116,084  143,090  — — — 259,174
Impairment of associate investment    —  (89,601) — — — (89,601)
Impairment of available for sale investment   —  (20,090) — — —  (20,090)
Exploration expenses     — — —  (147,242)  (50,380)  (197,622)
Administrative expenses    — — — —  (704,566)  (704,566)
Currency gain     — — — —  20,908  20,908
Share of losses in associates     (309,636)  (209,584) — — —  (519,220)
Finance cost (net)     — — — — (69,241)  (69,241)

Net profit/(loss) before tax from continuing activities   2,281,956  (113,802) 3,527,968  (147,242)  (794,323)  4,754,557

Information by geographical area
Presented below is certain information by the geographical area of the Group’s activities. Revenue from investment sales and the sale 
of exploration assets is allocated to the location of the asset sold. 
   UK Australia Colombia Greenland Other Total 
Year ended 30 June 2011  £ £ £ £ £ £

Revenue   
Management services  64,076 — — — — 64,076
Sale of minerals  — — 878,535 — — 878,535
Gain on sales of investments  1,975 1,213,691 — — — 1,215,666
Gain on sales of exploration assets  — 169,322 — — — 169,322
Profit on transfer of investment from associate 260,189 13,978,108 — — — 14,238,297

Total segment revenue and other gains  326,240 15,361,121 878,535 — — 16,565,896

Non-current assets   
Property, plant and equipment  26,565 405 13,300,576 — — 13,327,546
Investments in associates  — 496,557 — — 479,175 975,732
Exploration assets  — — — 501,062 — 501,062

Total segment non-current assets  26,565 496,962 13,300,576 501,062  479,175 14,804,340

Available for sale financial assets       24,472,120
Other financial assets       4,095,696

        43,372,156
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2 Segmental analysis continued 
Information by geographical area continued
     UK Australia Other Total 
Year ended 30 June 2010    £ £ £ £

Revenue   
Management services    8,956 — — 8,956
(Losses)/gains on sales of investments    (22,604) 457,253 84,987 519,636
Gains on sale of exploration assets    — 3,527,968 — 3,527,968
Profit on transfer to associate    — 2,018,255 — 2,018,255

Total segment revenue and other (losses)/gains   (13,648) 6,003,476 84,987 6,074,815

Non-current assets  
Investments in associates    — 7,262,235 70,298 7,332,533
Property, plant and equipment    4,667 433 — 5,100
Exploration assets    — 148,374 147,242 295,616

Total segment non-current assets    4,667 7,411,042 217,540 7,633,249

Available for sale financial assets       1,373,680

Total non-current assets       3,527,968

3 Profit for the year before taxation  
Profit for the year before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting):  
       2011 2010 
       £ £

Auditor’s remuneration – Audit      22,950 22,000
Directors’ emoluments      340,417 181,039
Share-based payments – Directors      149,823 —
Share-based payments – staff      30,591 —
Depreciation      710,735 2,345
Currency gains      (40,414) (20,908)

4 Taxation 
       2011 2010 
       £ £

Current period taxation on the Group  
UK corporation tax at 26.5% (2010: 28%) on profits for the period    85,805 909,030
Over provision in prior years      (87,495) —

       (1,690) 909,030
Deferred tax  
Origination and reversal of temporary differences     3,715,243 390,157

Tax expense      3,713,553 1,299,187

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year   
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation      13,973,537 4,754,557

Profit on ordinary activities at the average UK standard rate of 26.5% (2010: 28.0%)   3,702,987 1,331,276
Impact of subsidiaries and associates      606,509 (21,055)
Over provision in prior years      (87,495) —
Effect of income not taxable      (508,448)  (11,034)

Tax expense      3,713,553 1,299,187

In addition to the amounts charged to the consolidated statement of income a deferred tax charge amounting to £1,061,795 
(2010: credit £524,630) relating to the Group’s investments was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Legislation in Finance (No 2) Act 2010 reduced the main rate of corporation tax from 28% to 27% with effect from 1 April 2011. A further 
reduction to 26% with effect from 1 April 2011 was announced in the Budget on 23 March 2011, along with further reductions of 1% 
per annum for three years thereafter, reducing to 23% with effect from 1 April 2014.
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5 Staff costs
The Group had no employees during the year other than the Directors, each of whom provide professional services as required on a part 
time basis. Regency Mines plc, an associate company, provides the services of its staff as necessary at cost plus a service charge of 15%. 

6 Directors’ emoluments 
Directors’ remuneration
     Directors’ Consultancy Share-based  
     fees fees payments Total 
2011    £ £ £ £

Executive Directors
A R M Bell    165,417 15,000 31,815 212,232
M Yannaghas    102,000 — 87,417 189,417
Other Directors
J Ladner    4,250 3,250 — 7,500
M C Nott    8,250 11,500 19,578 39,328
J Watkins    8,250 11,500 9,789 29,539
R F Weicker    — 11,000 1,224 12,224

     288,167 52,250 149,823 490,240

     Directors’ Consultancy Share-based  
     fees fees payments Total 
2010    £ £ £ £

Executive Directors
A R M Bell    59,773 15,000 — 74,773
M Yannaghas    62,328 — — 62,328
Other Directors
M C Nott    6,036 9,000 — 15,036
J Watkins    6,402 10,500 — 16,902
R F Weicker    — 12,000 — 12,000

     134,539 46,500 — 181,039

The number of Directors who exercised share options in the year was four (2010: four).

7 Earnings per share 
The basic earnings per share is derived by dividing the profit for the year attributable to Ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of shares in issue.  
       2011 2010

Profit for the period after taxation      £11,924,606 £3,455,370

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares of £0.001 in issue    668,431,704 530,859,050
Earnings per share – basic      1.78 pence 0.65 pence

Weighted average number of Ordinary shares of £0.001 in issue inclusive of outstanding options  698,902,868 559,329,598
Earnings per share – fully diluted      1.71 pence 0.62 pence

The weighted average number of shares issued for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share reconciles to the number used 
to calculate basic earnings per share as follows:
       2011 2010

Earnings per share denominator      668,431,704 530,859,050
Weighted average number of exercisable share options     30,471,164 28,470,548

Diluted earnings per share denominator      698,902,868 559,329,598
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8 Property, plant and equipment  
     Field 
     equipment Fixtures Assets 
     and and under 
    Mines  machinery  fittings  construction Total 
Group   £ £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2009   — — — — —
Additions   — 7,445 — — 7,445
Acquired with subsidiary   — — — — —
Disposals   — — — — —

At 30 June 2010   — 7,445 — — 7,445
Additions   35,648  662,385 93,803 401,203 1,193,039
Acquired with subsidiary   12,853,903 — 1,426 36,098 12,891,427
Disposals   — — — — —
Currency exchange   (34,538) 76 (89) (2,262) (36,813)

At 30 June 2011   12,855,013 669,906 95,140 435,039 14,055,098

Depreciation
At 1 July 2009   — — — — —
Charge   — (2,345) — — (2,345)
Acquired with subsidiary   — — — — —
Disposal   — — — — —
Currency exchange   — — — — —

At 30 June 2010   — (2,345) — — (2,345)
Charge   (642,751) (59,150) (8,834) — (710,735)
Acquired with subsidiary   (8,699) — — — (8,699)
Disposal   — — — — —
Currency exchange   (5,764) (9) — — (5,773)

At 30 June 2011   (657,214) (61,504) (8,834) — (727,552)

Net book value
At 30 June 2011   12,197,799 608,402 86,306 435,039 13,327,546

At 30 June 2010   — 5,100 — — 5,100

At 30 June 2009   — — — — —

Depreciation is included within administrative expenses in the income statement.
      Field 
      equipment Fixtures 
      and and 
      machinery  fittings Total 
Company     £ £ £

Cost
At 1 July 2009     — — —
Additions     7,000 — 7,000

At 30 June 2010     7,000 — 7,000
Additions     — 28,649 28,649

At 30 June 2011     7,000 28,649 35,649

Depreciation
At 1 July 2009     — — —
Charge     (2,333) — (2,333)

At 30 June 2010     (2,333) — (2,333)
Charge     (2,333) (4,418) (6,751)

At 30 June 2011     (4,666) (4,418) (9,084)

Net book value
At 30 June 2011     2,334 24,231 26,565

At 30 June 2010     4,667 — 4,667

At 30 June 2009     — — —

Depreciation is included within administrative expenses in the income statement.
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9 Investments in subsidiaries  
       2011 2010 
Company      £ £

Cost  
At 1 July 2010      482 482
Additions during the year      4,004,072 —
Disposals during the year      — —

At 30 June 2011      4,004,554 482

Impairment  
At 1 July 2010      — —
Charge in the year      (482) —

At 30 June 2011      (482) —

Net book value  
At 30 June 2011      4,004,072 482

At 30 June 2010      482 482

As at 30 June 2011, the Company held interests in the following subsidiary companies:
Company  Country of registration Class Proportion held  Nature of business

American Gold Mines Limited  Cayman Islands Ordinary 100% Holding company
Intrepid Resources Limited   Zambia Ordinary 100% Dormant
Mineras Four Points SA*   Colombia Ordinary 51% Mineral exploration
Red Rock Australasia Pty Limited   Australia Ordinary 100% Mineral exploration

* The Company holds 51% of the share capital of Mineras Four Points SA through its holding in American Gold Mines Limited.

Acquisition of subsidiary 
On 6 July 2010 the Company signed an agreement enabling it to exercise an option to acquire 51% of the share capital of the Colombian 
company, Mineras Four Points SA (“MFP”).

Subsequently, on 4 March 2011, the Company exercised options over 51% of the company in a series of transactions, as follows:

		the Colombian shareholders of MFP formed a new Cayman Island holding company, American Gold Mines Limited (“AMG”);

		the Colombian shareholders transferred 51% of their shares in MFP to AMG; and

		the Colombian shareholders sold 100% of their interest in AMG to the Company.

In accordance with IAS 27, the option over the share capital gave the company effective control of AMG and MFP, therefore 6 July 2010 
is the deemed acquisition date.

The primary reason for the contract was for the company to provide financial and technical support to MFP in order to increase 
production at the El Limon mine facility.
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9 Investments in subsidiaries continued 
The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.

        Fair value at  
        6 July 
        2010 
        £

Net assets acquired  
Property, plant and equipment       12,882,728
Trade and other receivables       48,093
Cash and cash equivalents       4,974

Total assets       12,935,795

Trade and other payables       1,123,950
Tax payables       3,696
Deferred taxation       3,800,325

Total liabilities       4,927,971

Fair value of identifiable total assets and liabilities      8,007,824

Non-controlling interest       (4,003,752)
Goodwill       —

Total consideration (excluding direct costs)      4,004,072

Consideration is made up of the following:  
Cash       2,757,656
Deferred cash consideration       1,246,416

        4,004,072
   

Cash consideration paid       (2,757,656)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired       4,974

Net cash outflow arising from business combination      (2,752,682)

Directly attributable acquisition costs of £4,635 have been expensed through profit and loss as incurred, within administrative expenses.

The consideration paid and payable by the Company as at 30 June 2011 to the Colombian shareholder was as follows:

			US$4,502,000 paid;

			US$1,000,000 payable on resolution of a dispute; and

			US$1,000,000 deferred until MFP produces 150 tons of ore per day for a continuous 90 day period.

The fair value of the deferred consideration is measured at the present value of the potential outcomes by discounting these outcomes 
at a discount rate of 14%. The profitability of future outcomes has been estimated taking into account historical patterns relating to ore 
production volumes and operating profits of MFP.

The deferred consideration has been classified as a liability. There is no right to return of previously transferred consideration.

The non-controlling interest of £4,003,752 has been recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.

Of the gross contractual trade receivables at the acquisition date of £48,093, all are expected to be collected.

MFP contributed £1,313,746 of revenue and made net loss of £1,720,332 for the period between the date of acquisition and the reporting 
date. If this acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2010, the Group’s revenue and the Group’s net profit would not have been materially different.
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10 Investments in associates 
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

Cost  
At 30 June 2010    8,241,001 1,298,566 7,981,827 1,298,566
Additions during the year    515,637 4,043,662 515,637 4,043,662
Transfers (to)/from available for sale financial assets    (6,957,892) 3,584,866 (6,598,719)  3,584,866
Gain on transfer from available for sale financial assets   — 161,673 — 161,673
Gain on dilution of interest    252,947 259,174 — —
Disposals in the year    (252,488) (1,106,940) (226,238) (1,106,940)

At 30 June 2011    1,799,205 8,241,001 1,672,507 7,981,827

Impairment  
At 30 June 2010    (908,468) (253,713) (89,601) —
Losses during the year    (386,228) (565,154) — —
Impairment in the year     (70,298) (89,601) (77,245) (89,601)
Transfers to available for sale financial assets   515,271 — — —
Disposals in the year    26,250 — — —

At 30 June 2011    (823,473) (908,468) (166,846) (89,601)

Net book amount  
At 30 June 2011    975,732 7,332,533 1,505,661 7,892,226

At 30 June 2010    7,332,533 1,044,853 7,892,226 1,298,556
 

The Company, at 30 June 2011, had holdings amounting to 20% or more of the issued share capital of the following companies which 
amounted to significant influence:
    Country of Class of Percentage of Accounting  
Name   incorporation shares held issued capital year end

Red Rock Zambia Limited*   Zambia Ordinary 28.40% 30 June 2011
Resource Star Limited   Australia Ordinary 24.57% 30 June 2011

* Financial information was not available for this company.

The Company, at 30 June 2011, had significant influence by virtue other than shareholding over 20% over the following company:
    Country of Class of Percentage of Accounting  
Name   incorporation shares held issued capital year end

Mid Migori Mining Company Limited   Kenya Ordinary 15% 30 September 2010

Summarised financial information for the Company’s associates, where available, is given below:
     Revenue Loss Assets Liabilities 
Name    £ £ £ £

Mid Migori Mining Company Limited (30 September 2010)   — (37,135) 956,357 1,230,818
Resource Star Limited (30 June 2011)    78,434 (802,759) 2,517,094 273,541
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10 Investments in associates continued
  Ascot  Jupiter Mid Migori Range Red Rock  Resource  
  Mining Mines Mining Company Mines Zambia Star 
  plc Limited Limited  Limited  Limited  Limited Total 
  £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Cost    
At 30 June 2010 — 6,892,218 — 26,250 140,596 1,181,937 8,241,001
Additions during the year 476,595 — — — — 39,042 515,637
(Loss)/gain on dilution of interest (23,928) 267,017 — — — 9,858 252,947
Disposals in the year (2,000) (158,073) — (26,250) — (66,165) (252,488)
Transfers (to)/from available  
for sale financial assets (450,667) (7,001,162) 493,937 — — — (6,957,892)

At 30 June 2011 — — 493,937 — 140,596 1,164,672 1,799,205

Impairment and losses  
during the year     
At 30 June 2010 — (355,570) — (26,250) (70,298) (456,350) (908,468)
Losses during the year (19,242) (140,459) (14,762) — — (211,765) (386,228)
Impairment in the year — — — — (70,298) — (70,298)
Disposals in the year — — — 26,250 — — 26,250
Transfers to available  
for sale financial assets 19,242 496,029 — — — — 515,271

At 30 June 2011 — — (14,762) — 140,596 (668,115) (823,473)

Carrying amount    
At 30 June 2011 — — 479,175 — — 496,557 975,732

At 30 June 2010 — 6,536,648 — — 70,298 725,587 7,332,533

Ascot Mining plc
During the year, the Company entered into a series of transactions with Ascot Mining plc (“Ascot”).

On 18 November 2010, the Company received loan notes from Ascot, repayable by 2015 or convertible at the Company’s discretion 
into 7,500,000 shares in Ascot.

As part of the agreement, the Company also took out warrants over 10,500,000 Ascot shares. 1,000,000 of these were exercised immediately.

Subsequently, the Company also purchased 550,000 Ordinary shares in Ascot and sold 10,000.

In accordance with IAS 28, potential voting rights must be considered when assessing significant influence. As such, Ascot was recognised 
as an associate on inception of the deal by virtue of the Company’s potential percentage holding in Ascot shares.

The warrants and embedded derivative contained within the £1.5 million loan (i.e. the option to convert to equity) were fair valued at 
inception and classified as other financial assets at fair value through profit and loss in accordance with IAS 39. As such, they are shown 
separately in the statement of financial position and revalued accordingly at each reporting date, with gains and losses going to the income 
statement. The loan element is included within trade and other receivables at amortised cost.

Ascot continued to issue shares which the Company did not take up. The interest in Ascot was diluted such that, on 4 May 2011, 
the Company’s holding fell below 20% and the Company was deemed to have lost significant influence.

A loss on dilution of £23,928 was recognised in the year. The share of Ascot’s results from the inception of the agreement to the point 
of derecognition as an associate has been included in and the carrying value of the associate investment transferred to available for sale 
financial assets on 4 May 2011. A gain of £260,189 was recognised when the purchased shares were designated as available for sale 
financial assets.

Jupiter Mines Limited (“Jupiter”)
During the year, the Company sold a number of its shares in Jupiter. The Company’s investment in Jupiter was further diluted 
by an equity share issue of 946,411,451 Ordinary shares on 8 November 2010. This reduced the Company’s investment to 6.25%.

The fair value of the Company’s holding in Jupiter on this date was £20,481,889 by reference to the market price of Jupiter shares.
        £

Fair value of Company’s equity holding in Jupiter      20,481,889
Carrying value of Company’s investment in associate      6,505,133

        13,976,756
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income transferred  
to income statement on reclassification of investment from associate to available for sale    1,353

Income statement profit on reclassification of Jupiter investment from associate to available for sale   13,978,109
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10 Investments in associates continued
Mid Migori Mining Company Limited
The Company owns 15% of the issued share capital of Mid Migori Mining Company Limited (“MMM”). During the year, Andrew Bell 
was appointed to the Board of MMM and has since entered into an agreement whereby the Company manages and funds a number 
of its development projects.

In accordance with IAS 28, the involvement with MMM meets the definition of significant influence and therefore has been accounted 
for as an associate. The cost of the original investment has been transferred from available for sale financial assets in the current year 
and adjusted for the share of losses of MMM for the period since significant influence was obtained. 

Range Mines Limited
The Company held a 41.5% interest in Range Mines Limited, a company with zinc exploration interests in Australia with the intention 
of arranging an initial public offering followed by a listing. Poor markets for zinc led to this intention being abandoned and the company 
dissolved on 15 September 2009.

Red Rock Zambia Limited
Owing to adverse conditions in Zambia, the book value of Red Rock Zambia Limited was fully written off in the year.

Resource Star Limited
During the year the Company purchased 974,577 shares in Resource Star Limited and sold 885,000, taking the number of shares held 
to 13,984,871. Resource Star Limited also issued 5,000,000 shares in the year which the Company did not take up; therefore its interest 
was diluted, recognising a gain of £9,858 on dilution.

The market value as at 30 June 2011 of the Company’s investments in listed associates was as follows: 
       2011 2010 
       £ £

Resource Star Limited      464,706 481,953

11 Available for sale financial assets
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

At 30 June 2010    1,373,680 3,676,909 1,373,680 3,676,909
Additions     774,207 1,502,165 774,207 1,502,165
Disposals     (2,439,159) (69,633) (2,439,159) (69,633)
Profit on designation as available for sale financial asset   14,238,297 — 14,080,848 —
Revaluations    4,082,474 (140,850) 4,083,825 (140,850)
Transfer from/(to) investments in associates (see note 10)   6,442,621 (3,584,866) 6,598,719 (3,584,866)
Impairment of available for sale financial assets   — (10,045) — (10,045)

At 30 June 2011    24,472,120 1,373,680 24,472,120 1,373,680

Market value of investments
The market value as at 30 June 2011 of the Company’s available for sale listed investments was as follows: 
       2011 2010 
       £ £

Quoted on AIM      613,020 85,420
Quoted on other foreign stock exchanges      23,546,167 481,390

       24,159,187 566,810 
Unquoted investments at fair value      312,933 806,870

       24,472,120 1,373,680
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12 Other financial assets 
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

Fair value  
At 30 June 2010    — — — —
Additions at fair value on inception    2,365,176 — 2,365,176 —
Fair value gains on re-measurement    1,730,520 — 1,730,520 —

At 30 June 2011    4,095,696 — 4,095,696 —

On 18 November 2010 the Company received loan notes from Ascot Mining plc (“Ascot”), convertible at the Company’s discretion 
for 7,500,000 shares in Ascot.

As part of the agreement, the Company also took out warrants over 10,500,000 Ascot shares (see note 10 for further detail).

In accordance with IAS 39, the warrants and the convertible options will be held separately at fair value and re-measured at each 
reporting period. Any fair value gains or losses on re-measurement are taken to profit and loss.

On inception, the gain was calculated as follows in the income statement:
        £

Loan to Ascot at actual cost       (1,500,000)
Amortised cost of loan included in trade and other receivables (note 15)     1,051,408
Warrants and options at fair value included in other financial assets (see above)    2,365,176

Fair value gain on inception in the income statement      1,916,584
Re-measurement to 30 June 2011        1,730,520

Total fair value gain in the income statement      3,647,104
 

The estimate of the fair value of the options and warrants is measured based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, using the 
following inputs and assumptions:
      Price of 
     Exercise shares on Estimated Risk free 
     price grant volatility interest 
     pence pence % %

18 November 2010    20 26.5 43 2.2

The amortised cost of the loan has been calculated using the discounted cash flow method. A discount rate of 20% was applied to the 
loan which the Directors consider to equal the cost of capital for the Company of this transaction, after taking into account the loan term 
and associated coupon rate.

13 Exploration assets 
As required under IFRS 6, the Directors have carried out an impairment review resulting in a charge as shown below. The benefit of these 
assets may not be fully realised within twelve months.
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

Cost  
At 30 June 2010    467,013 530,385 318,639 509,170
Additions during the year    504,362 92,525 504,362 56,211
Disposals during the year    — (161,410) — (246,742)
Exchange gains    (37,692) 5,513 — —

At 30 June 2011    933,683 467,013 823,001 318,639

Impairment   
At 30 June 2010    (171,397) (24,155) (171,397) (171,397)
Impairments recognised in the year    (261,224) (147,242) (150,542) (147,242)

At 30 June 2011    (432,621) (171,397) (321,939) (171,397)

Net book amount  
At 30 June 2011    501,062 295,616 501,062 147,242

At 30 June 2010    295,616 506,230 147,242 485,015

The impairment is shown as impairment of exploration assets in the income statement.
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13 Exploration assets continued
Australia
The exploration assets held in Red Rock Australasia Pty Limited were fully written down in the year.

Greenland
The Company has committed to a programme of exploration expenditure with North Atlantic Mining Associates Limited (“NAMA”). 
On satisfaction of the terms of the agreement, NAMA will issue shares equivalent to 25% of its issued share capital to the Company.

Zambia
During the prior year unauthorised changes in the licence details recorded for the interest in a small scale manganese licence at Mkushi, 
Zambia led to the decision to make a 50% provision for impairment pending further action. The other 50% was written off in the current year.

14 Cash and cash equivalents
      30 June  30 June  
      2011 Cash flow 2010 
Group     £ £ £

Cash in hand and at bank     268,788 (294,410) 563,198

      30 June  30 June  
      2011 Cash flow 2010 
Company     £ £ £

Cash in hand and at bank     42,166 (520,384) 562,550

15 Other receivables
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

Current trade and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries     — — 112,177 157,949
Prepayments    223,927 16,382 223,927 16,382
Related party receivables    897,112 95,642 897,112 95,642
Other receivables    5,537,144 1,014,873 5,226,744 1,012,501

Total    6,658,183 1,126,897 6,459,960 1,282,474

Included in other receivables are the following amounts:

			£2,033,170 (2010: £530,602) recoverable from Mid Migori Mining Company Limited; under the terms of the joint venture, purchase 
and sale agreement entered into in August 2009 as detailed in notes 22 and 25;

			the loan to Ascot Mining plc under the terms of the agreement detailed in note 12. The amortised cost of the loan at 30 June 2011 was 
£1,051,408 (2010: £nil); 

			£nil (2010: £389,324) due from the sale of shares in Jupiter Mines Limited. This amount was received on 4 July 2010; and

			a loan of £1,459,181 (2010: £nil) to Helm Bank Panama in respect of the funding agreement as part of the acquisition of Mineras Four Points SA 
(see notes 9 and 16). The loan bears interest at 5% and is repayable in full on 30 June 2013.

16 Trade and other payables 
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

Trade payables    2,517,569 201,689  1,026,839 186,525
Accruals    1,515,216 33,369 1,512,890 31,095

Trade and other payables    4,032,785 235,058 2,539,729 217,620
Short-term borrowings    1,750,450 760,323 1,750,450 760,323

     5,783,235 995,381 4,290,179 977,943
Long-term borrowings    2,817,500 — — —

Total    8,600,735 995,381 4,290,179 977,943
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16 Trade and other payables continued
YA Global Master SPV Limited
A short-term loan of £1,750,450 (2010: £760,323) was provided by YA Global Master SPV by Yorkville Advisors LLC. Interest is charged 
on this loan at a rate of 12% per annum. The Company has pledged 21,266,540 (2010: 18,188,709) of its shares in Jupiter Mines Limited 
as security for this loan.

Repayments are made either in cash or by issue of shares in the Company in line with the terms of the agreement.

At 30 June 2011, the undrawn credit on this facility was £8.1 million.

Helm Bank loan
A loan of £2,817,500 (2010: £nil) was provided to Mineras Four Points SA (“MFP”) by Helm Bank Panama, under the terms of the secondary 
funding agreement, which formed part of the acquisition agreement of MFP (see note 9). Part of this funding was provided indirectly by 
Red Rock Resources plc via Helm Bank Panama, but as each element has distinct terms and security, amounts are shown gross in trade 
and other receivables (note 15) and within short-term loans above. The loan bears interest at 5% and is repayable in full on 30 June 2013.

17 Deferred tax liabilities
The movement in the Company’s and Group’s net deferred tax position is as follows:
     Group  Company

     2011  2010  2011  2010 
     £ £ £ £

At 30 June 2010    193,086 327,599 344,203 433,926
Deferred tax charge recognised in the statement of income   3,715,243 390,157 3,927,351 423,918
Deferred tax charge/(credit) recognised  
in the statement of comprehensive income    1,061,795 (524,630) 1,061,795 (513,641)
Deferred tax liability acquired with subsidiary   3,800,325 — — —

At 30 June 2011    8,770,449 193,086 5,333,349 344,203

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and Company and the movements thereon 
during the period:
       Employee  
     Depreciation Investments benefits Total 
Group    £ £ £ £

At 30 June 2009 as restated    — 327,559 — 327,559
(Credit)/charge to the statement of income for the year    (252)  381,614  8,795  390,157
(Credit) to the statement of comprehensive income for the year  — (524,630) —  (524,630)

At 30 June 2010     (252)  184,543  8,795  193,086
Charge/(credit) to the statement of income for the year   7,159  3,825,088  (117,004) 3,715,243 
Charge to the statement of comprehensive income for the year  — 1,061,795  — 1,061,795 
Deferred tax liability acquired with subsidiary   — 3,800,325 — 3,800,325

At 30 June 2011    6,907  8,871,751  (108,209)  8,770,449 

       Employee  
     Depreciation Investments benefits Total 
Company    £ £ £ £

At 30 June 2009 as restated     —  433,926 — 433,926
(Credit)/charge to the statement of income for the year    (252)  415,375  8,795  423,918
(Credit) to the statement of comprehensive income   — (513,641)  —  (513,641)

At 30 June 2010    (252)  335,660  8,795  344,203
Charge/(credit) to the statement of income for the year   7,159  4,037,196  (117,004)  3,927,351 
Charge to the statement of comprehensive income   —  1,061,795  —  1,061,795 

At 30 June 2011    6,907  5,434,651  (108,209)  5,333,349 
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18 Share capital of the Company
The authorised share capital and the called up and fully paid amounts were as follows:
        Nominal  
       Number £

Authorised
At incorporation on 8 September 2004 and as at 30 June 2011, Ordinary shares of £0.001 each  10,000,000,000 10,000,000

Called up, allotted and fully paid during the year  
As at 30 June 2010      583,908,807 583,908

Issued 7 July 2010 at 1.615 pence per share      15,042,190 15,042
Issued 12 August 2010 at 2.186 pence per share      13,723,094 13,723
Issued 23 August 2010 at 2.05 pence per share     15,000,000 15,000
Issued 14 September 2010 at 2.25 pence per share     3,200,000 3,200
Issued 14 September 2010 at 2.25 pence per share      11,114,689 11,115
Issued 25 September 2010 at 1.25 pence per share      1,400,000 1,400
Issued 29 September 2010 at 6.00 pence per share      10,000,000 10,000
Issued 1 October 2010 at 6.00 pence per share      998,460 999
Issued 11 October 2010 at 6.00 pence per share      20,000,000 20,000
Issued 11 October 2010 at 2.10 pence per share      1,007,143 1,007
Issued 11 October 2010 at 1.25 pence per share      150,000 150
Issued 14 December 2010 at 15.00 pence per share      2,666,667 2,667
Issued 29 December 2010 at 14.19 pence per share      4,227,967 4,228
Issued 21 January 2011 at 1.25 pence per share      250,000 250
Issued 21 January 2011 at 3.20 pence per share      125,000 125
Issued 24 January 2011 at 1.25 pence per share     125,000 125
Issued 24 January 2011 at 3.20 pence per share     250,000 250
Issued 24 January 2011 at 3.20 pence per share     125,000 125
Issued 7 February 2011 at 12.69 pence per share     4,726,288 4,726
Issued 18 March 2011 at 11.13 pence per share     333,530 334
Issued 14 April 2011 at 10.65 pence per share     5,632,274 5,632
Issued 6 May 2011 at 1.25 pence per share      1,600,000 1,600
Issued 6 May 2011 at 1.25 pence per share      750,000 750
Issued 6 May 2011 at 1.25 pence per share      750,000 750
Issued 24 May 2011 at 9.55 pence per share      1,584,442 1,584
Issued 24 May 2011 at 7.36 pence per share      8,151,066 8,151
Issued 22 June 2011 at 1.25 pence per share     475,000 475
Issued 23 June 2011 at 6.00 pence per share     12,500,000 12,500
Issued 23 June 2011 at 6.00 pence per share     4,166,666 4,167

As at 30 June 2011      723,983,283 723,983

Capital management 
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, provide the shareholders with adequate 
returns and ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going concern.

The Group’s debt and capital includes Ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial assets.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response 
to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and 
share issues.

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the prior year.
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19 Reserves
Share premium
The share premium account represents the excess of consideration received for shares issued above their nominal value net 
of transaction costs.

Foreign currency translation reserve
The translation reserve represents the exchange gains and losses that have arisen on the retranslation of overseas operations.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent the cumulative profit and loss net of distributions to owners.

Available for sale trade investments reserve
The available for sale trade investments reserve represents the cumulative revaluation gains and losses in respect of available for sale 
trade investments.

Associate investment reserve
The associate investments reserve represents the cumulative share of gains and losses of associates recognised in the statement 
of other comprehensive income.

Share-based payment reserve
The share-based payment reserve represents the cumulative charge for options granted, still outstanding and not exercised.

20 Share-based payments
During the years ended 30 June 2007, 2009 and 2011, the Company established employee share option plans to enable the issue of options 
as part of the remuneration of key management personnel and Directors to enable them to purchase Ordinary shares in the Company. 
Under the plan, the options were granted for no consideration; they were granted for the periods specified and vested immediately, other 
than those issued for 2.4226 pence which carry other vesting conditions. Options granted under the plans carry no dividend or voting rights.

Under IFRS 2 “Share-based Payments”, the Company determines the fair value of the options issued to Directors and employees 
as remuneration and recognises the amount as an expense in the statement of income with a corresponding increase in equity. 
The expense was charged in full during the years ended 30 June 2007, 2009 and 2011.

The Company has outstanding options to subscribe for Ordinary shares as follows:
    Options issued  Options issued  Options issued  Options issued  
    11 May 2007 3 June 2009 22 September 2010 22 September 2010  
    exercisable at  exercisable at exercisable at exercisable at 
    3.5 pence per 1.1 pence per 3.2 pence per 2.4226 pence per  
    share expiring  share expiring  share expiring  share expiring  
    11 May 2012  3 June 2014  3 June 2014  3 June 2015 Total 
    Number Number Number Number Number

A R M Bell   750,000 10,000,000 3,250,000 — 14,000,000
K F Watson   750,000 — — — 750,000
M C Nott   1,000,000 — 2,000,000 — 3,000,000
J Watkins   750,000 — 1,000,000 — 1,750,000
M Yannaghas   — — 1,000,000 4,000,000 5,000,000
R Weicker   750,000 — 125,000 — 875,000
Employees of Regency Mines plc   1,000,000 — 3,125,000 — 4,125,000

Total   5,000,000 10,000,000 10,500,000 4,000,000 29,500,000

The fair value of the above share options as expensed in 2011 is £180,414 (2010: £nil).
      Company and Group  

       2010 
     2011  As restated

      Weighted  Weighted 
      average  average 
      exercise    exercise 
     Number of price  Number of price 
     options pence  options  pence

Outstanding at the beginning of the period    22,500,000 1.68 30,500,000 —
Granted    17,000,000 2.93 — —
Exercised    (6,000,000) 1.43 (6,250,000) 1.02
Expired    (4,000,000) 1.84 (1,750,000) 1.00

Outstanding at the end of the end of the period   29,500,000 2.43 22,500,000 1.68

Exercisable at the end of the period    29,500,000 2.43 22,500,000 1.68
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20 Share-based payments continued
The options outstanding at 30 June 2011 have an exercise price of between 1.1 pence and 3.5 pence and a weighted average contractual 
life of 3.07 years.

During the financial year 6,000,000 options were exercised (2010: 6,250,000). The weighted average share price on the date of exercise 
was 7.60 pence (2010: 1.75 pence).

During the financial year 4,000,000 options expired (2010: 1,750,000) due to expiry date or other vesting conditions not being met.

The fair value of services received in return for options granted is measured by reference to the fair value of options granted. The estimate 
of the fair value of the services received is measured based on the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The contractual life of the options 
is used as an input into the model. The model assumes that an option is only capable of exercise at expiry. 
     Price of 
   Fair value Exercise shares on Estimated Risk free 
   per option price grant volatility  interest Dividend 
   pence pence pence %  %  %

11 May 2007  1.65 3.5 3.375 50 5.18 —
3 June 2009  0.46 1.1 0.98 50 2.76 —
22 September 2010  1.60 3.2 3.20 50 1.84 —
22 September 2010  1.85 2.4226 3.20 50 1.84 —

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of peer group entities (calculated on the weighted average remaining life of the 
share options), adjusted for any expected changes to volatility due to publicly available information.

Risk free interest rates are based on five year government bonds.

21 Financial instruments
21.1 Categories of financial instruments 
The Group and Company hold a number of financial instruments, including bank deposits, short-term investments, loans and receivables 
and trade payables.

The totals for each category of financial instrument, measured in accordance with IAS 39 as detailed in the accounting policies, 
are as follows:
    Assets at fair 
    value through 
    profit or loss 
    designated   Other  
    upon initial  Available  Loans and  non-financial Group   recognition  for sale  receivables  assets Total 
30 June 2011   £ £ £ £ £

Non-current financial assets
Available for sale financial assets   — 24,472,120 — — 24,472,120
Other financial assets   4,095,696 — — — 4,095,696

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables   — — 6,658,183 — 6,658,183
Cash and cash equivalents   — — 268,788 — 268,788

    4,095,696 24,472,120 6,926,971 — 35,494,787

Other non-financial assets   — — — 14,804,340 14,804,340

Total assets   4,095,696 24,472,120 6,926,971 14,804,340 50,299,127

The carrying value of non-current financial assets in the Company equals that of the Group.

The carrying value of current financial assets in the Company is lower than that of the Group by £424,845 due to additional receivables 
and cash deposits in subsidiary companies.
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21 Financial instruments continued
21.1 Categories of financial instruments continued
      Other 
      financial liabilities Other  
      at amortised non-financial Group     cost liabilities Total 
30 June 2011     £ £ £

Non-current financial liabilities     
Long-term borrowings     2,817,500 — 2,817,500

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables     4,032,785 — 4,032,785
Short-term borrowings     1,750,450 — 1,750,450

Total liabilities     8,600,735 8,854,534 17,455,269

Equity       32,843,858

Total liabilities and equity       50,299,127

The carrying value of non-current financial liabilities in the company is less than that of the Group by £2,817,500 due to a loan in a subsidiary 
accompany for this amount, as set out in note 16.

The carrying value of current financial liabilities in the Company is less than that of the Group by £1,493,056 due to trade and other 
payables in subsidiary companies.
    Assets at fair 
    value through 
    profit or loss 
    designated   Other  
    upon initial  Available  Loans and  non-financial Group   recognition  for sale  receivables  assets Total 
30 June 2010   £ £ £ £ £

Non-current financial assets
Available for sale financial assets   — 1,373,680 — — 1,373,680
Other financial assets   — — — — —

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables   — — 1,126,897 — 1,126,897
Cash and cash equivalents   — — 563,198 — 563,198

    — 1,373,680 1,690,095 — 3,063,775

Other non-financial assets   — — — 7,633,249 7,633,249

Total assets   — 1,373,680 1,690,095 7,633,249 10,697,024

      Other 
      financial liabilities Other  
      at amortised non-financial Group     cost liabilities Total 
30 June 2010     £ £ £

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables     235,058 — 235,058
Borrowings     760,323 — 760,323

      995,381 — 995,381

Other non-financial liabilities     — 1,102,116 1,102,116

Total liabilities     995,381 1,102,116 2,097,497

Equity       8,599,527

Total liabilities and equity       10,697,024

The carrying value of non-current financial assets, current financial assets and current financial liabilities in the Company is not materially 
different to that of the Group.
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21.2 Fair values
The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities compared to their carrying amounts are as follows:
     2011  2010

     Carrying  Net fair Carrying  Net fair 
     amount value amount value 
Group    £ £ £ £

Non-current financial assets
Available for sale financial assets 
– at market price    24,159,187 24,159,187 566,810 566,810
– at cost    312,933 312,933 806,870 806,870

     24,742,120 24,742,120 1,373,680 1,373,680
Other financial assets    4,095,696 4,095,696 — —

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables    6,658,183 6,658,183 1,126,897 1,126,897
Cash and cash equivalents    268,788 268,788 563,198 563,198

Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables     4,032,785 4,032,785 235,058 235,058
Borrowings     4,567,950 4,567,950 760,233 760,233

The carrying amount of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities also equates to their fair value. 

Fair value is defined as the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable willing parties 
in an arm’s length transaction. Where a quoted price in an active market is available, the fair value is based on the quoted price at the 
end of the reporting period. In the absence of a quoted price in an active market, the Group determines fair value using a valuation 
technique that makes use of observable market inputs.

Trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade payables and borrowings
The carrying amount is considered to equate to its fair value.

The fair value of loans and borrowings has been estimated by calculating present values at the reporting date, using fixed effective 
interest rates.

Available for sale and other financial assets
The following table presents the other financial assets measured at fair value in the statement of financial position in accordance with the 
fair value hierarchy required by IFRS 7.

The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
			Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
			Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) 

or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
			Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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21.2 Fair values continued
Available for sale and other financial assets continued
The financial assets measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:
Group and Company    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
30 June 2011    £ £ £ £

Available for sale financial assets     
– at market price (i)    24,429,187 — — 24,429,187
– at cost (iii)    — — 312,933 312,933

     24,429,187 — 312,933 24,742,120
Other financial assets (ii)    — 4,095,696 — 4,095,696

Group and Company    Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
30 June 2010    £ £ £ £

Available for sale financial assets 
– at market price (i)    566,810 — — 566,810
– at cost (iii)    — — 806,870 806,870

     566,810 — 806,870 1,373,680
Other financial assets (ii)    — — — —

(i) Available for sale assets at market price
All listed equity securities have been issued by publicly traded companies, in the UK and other foreign markets. Fair values for these 
securities have been determined by reference to their quoted bid prices at the reporting date.

(ii) Other financial assets
The fair value of other financial assets, which are share options and warrants, are estimated using a valuation technique. All significant 
inputs are based on observable market prices such as market rates of interest and volatility of past share price.

(iii) Available for sale assets at cost
These financial instruments, classified in level 3, use valuation techniques based on inputs that are not based on observable market data, 
due to the fact they are unlisted and no such data is available.

The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from beginning to ending balances as follows:

Available for sale financial assets
       Unlisted investments at cost

       2011  2010 
Group and Company      £  £

Brought forward      806,870 32,036

Purchases      — 774,834
Transfers (to) investment in associates      (493,937) —

Carried forward      312,933 806,870

21.3 Financial risk management policies
The Directors monitor the Group’s financial risk management policies and exposures and approve financial transactions.

The Directors’ overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the consolidated Group in meeting its financial targets, while minimising 
potential adverse effects on financial performance. Its functions include the review of credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

Specific financial risk exposures and management
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are credit risk and market risk consisting of interest rate risk, 
liquidity risk, equity price risk and foreign exchange risk.
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21.3 Financial risk management policies continued
Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counterparties of contract obligations 
that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.

Credit risk is managed through the maintenance of procedures (such procedures include the utilisation of systems for the approval, 
granting and renewal of credit limits, regular monitoring of exposures against such limits and monitoring of the financial liability of 
significant customers and counterparties), ensuring, to the extent possible, that customers and counterparties to transactions are 
of sound creditworthiness. Such monitoring is used in assessing receivables for impairment.

Risk is also minimised through investing surplus funds in financial institutions that maintain a high credit rating, or in entities that the 
Directors have otherwise cleared as being financially sound.

Other receivables are neither past due or impaired and are considered to be of high credit quality. 

There are no amounts of collateral held as security in respect of trade and other receivables.

The consolidated Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of receivables under financial 
instruments entered into by the consolidated Group. 

The Group has pledged 21,266,540 (2010: 18,188,709) of its shares in Jupiter Mines Limited as security for one of its borrowings 
(see note 16).

Market risk
Interest rate risk
The Company is not exposed to any material interest rate risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise meeting its obligations 
related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the following mechanisms:

			monitoring undrawn credit facilities;

			obtaining funding from a variety of sources; and

			maintaining a reputable credit profile.

The Directors are confident that adequate resources exist to finance operations to commercial exploration but controls over expenditure 
are carefully managed.

Equity price risk
Price risk relates to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 
prices largely due to demand and supply factors for commodities.

As the Group does not derive revenue from sale of products, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the price risk is not 
considered material. The fair value of the mining projects will be impacted by commodity price changes and could impact future revenues 
once operational. However, management monitors current and projected commodity prices.

The Group’s exposure to price risk on listed investments is as follows: 
       2011  2010 
Group and Company      £  £

Change in profit:
– 		increase in listed investments by 10%      — —
– 		decrease in listed investments by 10%      — —

Change in equity:
– increase in listed investments by 10%      2,415,619 56,610
– decrease in listed investments by 10%      (2,415,619) (56,160)



60 Red Rock Resources plc Annual report and accounts 2011

Notes to the financial statements continued
for the year ended 30 June 2011

21 Financial instruments continued
21.3 Financial risk management policies continued
Market risk continued
Foreign currency risk
The Groups transactions are carried out in a variety of currencies, including Australia Dollar, Colombian Peso and US Dollar.

To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Sterling cash flows are monitored. The Group does not enter into forward 
exchange contracts to mitigate the exposure to foreign currency risk as amounts paid and received in specific currencies are expected to 
largely offset one another and the currencies most widely traded in are relatively stable.

The Directors consider the balances most susceptible to foreign currency movements to be the available for sale financial assets.

These assets are denominated in the following currencies:

Group and Company    GBP Au$ Ca$ Total 
30 June 2011    £ £ £ £

Available for sale investments    1,534,862 22,410,344 526,914 24,472,120

Group and Company    GBP Au$ Ca$ Total 
30 June 2010    £ £ £ £

Available for sale investments    892,290 74,273 407,117 1,373,680

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the value of investments in regards to the relative GBP and Australian Dollar, and GBP 
and Canadian Dollar exchange rates.

It assumes a +/– 10% change in the Au$/GBP exchange rate and a +/– change in the Ca$/GBP exchange rate for the year ended 30 June 2011. 
These percentages have been based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in the previous twelve months.

Impact on available for sale financial assets
       2011  2010 
       £  £

10% increase in Au$ fx rate against GBP      2,241,034 7,427
10% decrease in Au$ fx rate against GBP      (2,241,034) (7,427)

10% increase in Ca$ fx rate against GBP      52,691 40,712
10% decrease in Ca$ fx rate against GBP      (52,691) (40,712)

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of overseas transactions. Nonetheless, 
the analysis above is considered to be representative of the Group’s exposure to currency risk.

22 Significant agreements and transactions 
The following are the significant agreements and transactions recently undertaken having an impact in the year under review and for the 
period to 29 November 2011. For the sake of completeness and of clarity, some events after the reporting period are included here and 
in note 25 on page 63.

Mineras Four Points SA
			The Company entered into a funding and co-operation agreement with Mineras Four Points SA, Columbia (“MFP”), the effective date 

of which was 7 July 2010, since when the Company has procured a bank loan for MFP amounting to US$2,000,000. The loan carries 
interest at the rate of 5% per annum on the average outstanding amount and is repayable by 30 June 2013. 

			The loan and interest payments under the agreement are guaranteed through a back to back loan with the advancing bank; 
the Company has been granted charges, registered at Ingeominas, over MFP’s existing mining titles.

			The loan was advanced to enable MFP to fully refurbish the plant and equipment at its El Limon mine. In addition to loan interest, 
the Company acquired options to purchase from Juan Camilo Florez Ramirez, the holder of 80% of the equity and the operational 
manager, the following shares in MFP:

 			50% at a cost of US$6,500,000; and

 			1% at a cost of US$1,000,000.

			The Company provides technical advice for which during the period from 1 September 2010 until 30 June 2013 it receives fees totalling 
US$2,960,000, payable quarterly in arrears in increments rising from an initial US$200,000 per quarter to US$350,000 per quarter. 

			On 3 November 2010, a further secured loan of US$250,000 was made and on 10 November further loan facilities not to exceed 
US$250,000 were agreed in order to enable a second mine to be commissioned and to meet the working capital requirements 
during the commissioning period as set out in note 24. These loans carry interest at the rate of 6% per annum on the average 
outstanding amount. 
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Mineras Four Points SA continued
			On 10 November 2010, the Company entered into a further agreement under which it MFP may draw down a further sum of US$500,000, 

making a total of US$3,000,000. If used, this further facility is repayable within four months of the first draw down and carries interest at 
the rate of 6% per annum on the average outstanding amount. Furthermore, for each US$100,000 drawn down up to US$200,000, the 
Company is entitled to a warrant with the right for a period of one year to subscribe for 1% of the enlarged issued share capital of MFP 
at a cost of US$100,000 and for each additional US$100,000 drawn down up to US$300,000, the Company is entitled to a warrant with 
the right for a period of one year to subscribe for 1.5% of the enlarged issued share capital of MFP at a cost of US$100,000.

			On 3 March 2011 the Company exercised its option to take a 51% shareholding in MFP for a total cash consideration of up to 
US$7,500,000, of which US$5,502,000 was paid or payable on completion of a loan guarantee by the vendors, with US$1,000,000 
consideration deferred until MFP has an average ore production of 150 tons per day for a continuous 90 day period and a further 
US$998,000 payable only when MFP achieves a net operating profit of US$10,000,000 in one year. US$1,000,000 consideration would 
be deferred until MFP has an average ore production of 150 tons per day for a continuous 90 day period. US$1,000,000 of the purchase 
consideration is to be satisfied by the assignment of loan facilities advanced in November 2010 and carrying interest at 1.25% per 
calendar month. The Company will retain, via the Annual General Meeting, warrants to subscribe for a further 0.5% of MFP’s enlarged 
share capital for US$50,000 issued in connection with those loan facilities.

			On 2 June 2011 the Company agreed with the vendors to defer a further US$1,000,000 of the initial US$5,502,000 consideration 
pending resolution of an issue in relation to availability of areas for eventual expansion of the second mine at Machuca.

North Atlantic Mining Associates Limited (“NAMA”)
			On 2 March 2011, the Company signed an agreement whereby it will pay a fee of US$60,000 to NAMA for a two month option (“Option”) 

to enter into an earn-in agreement (“Earn-in”) with NAMA over exploration concessions held by its subsidiary NAMA Greenland Limited 
(“NGL”) at Thule, Greenland. During this two month period the Company will carry out further due diligence, including a site visit, while 
NAMA will carry out preparatory work for the exploration programme. The Company may exercise the Option by making payment 
of US$250,000 (or issuing an equivalent value of the Company’s shares), upon which it will enter into the Earn-in and be obligated 
to fund the 2011 exploration programme. The 2011 exploration programme is expected to include airborne geophysics, drilling and 
the definition of a JORC or equivalent resource. Upon fulfilment of the programme, Red Rock will be entitled to a 25% interest in NGL. 
Under the Earn-in, the Company may elect to earn a further 35% interest in NGL by making a further payment of US$250,000 (or issuing 
an equivalent value of the Company’s Ordinary shares) and funding the 2012 exploration programme, also to include definition of a 
JORC or equivalent resource. The agreed aggregate cost of the 2011 and 2012 exploration programmes is US$5,000,000, exclusive 
of taxes. The concessions held by NGL are MB1 and MB5, together amounting to 644 sq km of ground, which have been mapped 
by the Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland as Archaean greenstone with banded iron formations, magnetite and haematite. 
The area lies to the north-east of Baffin Island, which contains the Mary River iron ore deposit of Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, 
currently in development planning and situated in rocks of similar age and type.

			On 24 May 2011 the Company exercised the Option by issuing shares to the value of US$250,000 to enter into the Earn-in and be 
obligated to fund the 2011 exploration programme.

			On 22 June 2011, the concessions held by NGL have increased in area from 644 sq km to 1,013 sq km and further areas are being 
applied for.

Jupiter Mines Limited
			On 12 August 2010, the shareholders of Jupiter Mines Limited (“JMS”) approved a transaction whereby JMS would acquire a 49.9% 

interest in the Tshipi manganese project in South Africa, for a consideration of Au$245,000,000 and the assumption of Au$10,192,034 
in shareholder loans, from a consortium of investors including Pallinghurst Resources Limited, American Metals and Coal International, 
POSCO, Energy and Mining Group, and Investec Limited. On 8 November 2010 the acquisition was completed and in consequence 
the issued share capital of JMS increased from 369,786,471 shares to 1,602,150,501 shares.

			On 31 January 2011, JMS announced an Au$150,000,000 fundraising to advance its steel feed corporation strategy. Au$100,000,000 
will be used to develop Jupiter’s 49.9% owned Tshipi Borwa (“Tshipi”) project which is located in the Kalahari Manganese Field in 
South Africa and Au$40,000,000 to fast-track the 100% owned Mount Ida Manganese Magnetite Project (“Mt Ida”) and the associated 
small Mount Mason DSO Iron Project, located in the Central Yilgarn Region of Western Australia. The capital raised also provides some 
Au$10,000,000 for JMS working capital purposes. The Company maintains a 1.5% gross production royalty in Mt Ida. As a result of 
the fundraising, the Company’s interest in JMS shares is diluted to approximately 4.6% of JMS’ enlarged issued share capital.

			In February and March 2011, the Company sold 9,533,333 shares in JMS for a gross consideration of Au$5,512,567 which was to 
provide working capital and to meet the Company’s tax obligations arising from the vending in of the Company’s assets to JMS 
in 2009 and 2010 in consideration of the issue of JMS shares. Following these disposals, the Company retains 74,200,832 JMS 
shares being approximately 4.1% of JMS current issued share capital (ordinary and deferred).
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Kansai Mining Corporation Limited and Mid Migori Mining Company Limited, Kenya
			On 30 September 2010 an offer was made for the assets of Kansai by a third party, suggesting a value of the Company’s interest 

at Ca$10,898,000. This offer was later rescinded.

			On 11 March 2011, the Company exercised the option over 29,629,000 shares in Kansai Mining Corporation at a cost of Ca$10. 
The option was acquired by the Company on 2 November 2009. Following the acquisition of the Kansai shares, the Company 
is now interested in a total of 39,629,000 Kansai shares which represents approximately 35.2% of Kansai’s issued Ordinary share 
capital on a diluted basis.

			A further 45% interest in Mid Migori Mining Company Limited is due to be issued to Red Rock Resources plc upon completion 
of a bankable feasibility study on the Migori gold project by September 2015.

Resource Star Limited
			On 4 April 2011, the Company’s 24.9% owned associate Resource Star Limited announced an exploration joint venture with 

Thundelarra Exploration Limited on Thundelarra’s Spinifex Uranium project in Western Australia. Resource Star Limited will 
earn 20% equity in the project through the completion of 1,000m of drilling during the first twelve months of the joint venture and 
a further 31% by completing expenditure of Au$500,000.

Nimrodel Resources Limited 
			On 18 March 2011, the Company received new Nimrodel shares to the value of Au$300,000 from the sale of its interest in the Savage 

River mining tenement EL 11/2005 in Tasmania to Walkabout Resources Pty Limited (“WR”) and Resource Star Limited on 14 January 
2010. On 13 December 2010, WR was acquired by Nimrodel Resources Limited.

Cue Resources Limited
			On 4 May 2011 the Company agreed to dispose of its entire holding of 15,798,000 common shares in Cue Resources Limited to its 24.9% 

owned associate company Resource Star Limited for Ca$1,556,000. A Ca$200,000 loan from the Company to Cue Resources Limited 
is also being transferred at face value together with warrants to subscribe in aggregate for 15,798,000 common shares in Cue Resources 
Limited at prices of between Ca$0.12 and Ca$0.15. The transaction was subject to approval by shareholders of Resource Star Limited 
other than the Company. Due to the decline in the share price of uranium stocks including Resource Star Limited and Cue Resources 
Limited, the transaction has been suspended.

Ascot Mining plc
			On 18 November 2010, the Company invested £1,500,000 in a loan note redeemable in 2015 bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum 

and with conversion rights into ordinary shares at 20 pence per share issued by Ascot Mining plc, a company with gold producing interests 
in Costa Rica.

			In addition, the Company has received warrants to subscribe for a further 10,500,000 new Ordinary shares in Ascot Mining plc at a 
price of 20 pence at any time up to 18 November 2015. Of the warrants received, the Company has immediately exercised warrants 
over 1,000,000 shares at a cost of £200,000.

			Since the year end the Company has sold 260,000 Ordinary shares in Ascot Mining plc for net proceeds of £92,289.

SEDA-backed loan
			On 16 September 2010, the Company entered into a new loan agreement with YA Global Master SPV LLC under which it has borrowed 

US$1,200,000. The loan carried interest at the rate of 12% per annum and was repayable in full by 31 January 2011. The loan was 
secured over 18,188,709 Ordinary shares in Jupiter Mines Limited.

			On 29 November 2010, the Company entered into a further loan agreement with YA Global Master SPV LLC under which it has borrowed 
US$3,000,000. The loan agreement entered into on 16 September 2010 was cancelled and the sum of US$611,520, being the principal 
amount due plus all interest accrued, deducted from proceeds payable under the new loan. The loan carries interest at the rate of 
12% per annum and is repayable in five instalments, the last of which was due on 3 May 2011. The loan was secured over 21,266,540 
Ordinary shares in Jupiter Mines Limited.

			On 24 February 2011, the Company entered into a further loan agreement with YA Global Master SPV LLC under which it has agreed 
to borrow up to US$9,000,000 from YA Global Master SPV LLC in three tranches of up to US$3,000,000 each. The first tranche was 
advanced on 2 March 2011 and each tranche carries interest at 12% per annum and is to be repaid in scheduled instalments within 
13 months of drawdown. The loan is secured under a standby equity distribution agreement (“SEDA”) between the Company and 
YA Global Master SPV LLC entered into on 19 November 2009 and by security over certain liquid assets of the Company. The net loan 
proceeds were used to purchase resource assets after applying US$730,000 to the partial repayment of the Company’s previous 
US$3,000,000 loan agreement with YA Global Master SPV LLC entered into on 29 November 2010.

			On 17 July 2011 the Company entered into an amendment agreement to the SEDA-backed loan agreement dated 24 February 2011 
in which the repayment schedule was replaced.



63Red Rock Resources plcAnnual report and accounts 2011

23 Related party transactions
			On 1 July 2006, the Company agreed with Regency Mines plc to enter into a sub-licence agreement and share the rental, service costs 

and other outgoings of an office including administrative staff at 115 Eastbourne Mews, London W2 6LQ with Regency Mines plc and 
Greatland Gold plc, both companies of which Andrew Bell and John Watkins are also directors. This agreement has been effective 
throughout the year; a 15% service charge is payable in addition to a share of the costs. The total cost to the Company during the 
year was £155,261 (2010: £63,558), of which £25,200 represented the Company’s share of the office rent and the balance services 
provided (2010: £16,800).

			In addition, professional staff employed by Regency Mines plc are sub-contracted to the Company to work on specific assignments 
as necessary. During the year, the total inclusive of a 15% service charge but before the addition of VAT was £639,179 (2010: £244,013).

			The costs incurred on behalf of the Company by Regency Mines plc are invoiced at each month end and settled as soon as may be 
possible. By agreement, the Company pays interest at the rate of 0.5% per month on all balances outstanding at each month end until 
they are settled. The total charge for the year was £10,630 (2010 at 0.5% per month: £320).

			During the year, the Company subscribed for 12,500,000 shares in Regency Mines plc at 1.1 pence per share for a total consideration 
of £137,500. Andrew Bell and John Watkins are directors of Regency Mines plc.

			As a consequence of these subscriptions, the Company held 17,900,000 shares in Regency Mines plc as at 29 November 2011.

			General Mining Limited, a company of which Andrew Bell is a Director, executed a consulting agreement under which it provided 
the services of Andrew Bell until 10 May 2011.

24 Events after the reporting period
Cornhill Capital Limited
			On 15 July 2011, the Company entered into agreements with Cornhill Capital Limited (together with its group companies, “Cornhill”) 

to raise funds by the issue of a 24 month secured loan note (the “Secured Loan Notes 2013”). The first tranche of the Secured Loan 
Notes 2013 raised £2,000,000 before expenses. Further tranches up to a total principal amount of £5,000,000 (inclusive of the first 
tranche) may be issued, at the Company’s and Cornhill’s discretion, through the period up to 15 January 2012. Investors have a 
choice of “Series A” loan notes with a yield equivalent to 14% annualised, payable semi-annually or “Series B” loan notes which have 
a yield of 12% annualised, payable semi-annually with the option to convert 25% of the loan notes into equity of the Company at a 
price equal to a 50% premium to the Company’s 20 day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares quoted on AIM 
at the date of signing of the placing agreement.

			The Secured Loan Notes 2013 will bear an annualised coupon of 14% payable semi-annually, the first such payment being due 
on 3 January 2012. They are being issued in integral multiples of £1,000 (each a “Note”) at a price of £1,000 per Note and are 
redeemable at £1,000 per Note on the second anniversary of completion, or earlier on the giving of prescribed notice by the 
Company. Any early redemption will incur a payment of an additional three months interest. The Notes have been syndicated 
to certain high net worth investors in minimum tranches of £50,000.

			Certain shares in Jupiter Mines Limited (“JMS”) have been pledged as collateral for repayment of the Secured Loan Notes 2013 
together with interest thereon and any future sales of JMS shares will be subject to maintenance of minimum security covenants. 
In addition to a cash commission, Cornhill has been issued with 384,394 warrants with an exercise price of £0.10406 per share, 
representing 2% of the principal amount of the issued Secured Loan Notes 2013. These warrants may be exercised into new 
Red Rock Ordinary shares at any time within two years of issue, subject to extension in certain circumstances. Further warrants 
will be issued following the issuance of additional Notes.

SEDA-backed loan
			On 11 October 2011 the Company entered into an Amendment Agreement to the SEDA-backed Loan Agreement dated 17 June 2011. 

A further sum of US$2,300,000 was advanced to the Company and a new pledge over an additional 8,400,000 ordinary shares in the 
capital of Jupiter Mines was made.

Share Incentive Plan
			The Company has agreed to implement a Share Incentive Plan (“SIP”) for its staff. The scheme is designed to encourage staff to hold 

shares in the Company and has tax and NIC advantages. The Company expects the scheme to be in operation once approval has 
been obtained from HMRC.

Issue of new shares 
			On 15 November it was announced that the Company had issued 6,777,690 new Ordinary shares at 4.6180924 pence per share 

for a total consideration of £313,000. 

Cue Resources Limited
			On 24 October 2011 Resource Star Limited announced that it would not proceed with the acquisition of a strategic interest 

in Cue Resources Limited from the Company at this time. It was agreed with the company that the movement in equity market 
prices since the initial agreement and the continuing uncertainty in global markets mean that proceeding at this time would 
not be in the best interests of Resource Star Limited’s or the Company’s shareholders.

Annual General Meeting
			On 29 November 2011, the Company issued notice of an Annual General Meeting of shareholders to be held on 23 December 2011 

for the purpose of dealing with the usual business applicable at such a meeting.
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25 Commitments
As at 30 June 2011, the Company had entered into the following commitments:

			Exploration commitments: Ongoing exploration expenditure is required to maintain title to the Group mineral exploration permits. 
No provision has been made in the financial statements for these amounts as the expenditure is expected to be fulfilled in the normal 
course of the operations of the Group.

			Under the terms of the joint venture, purchase and sale agreement entered into in August 2009 between the Company and Kansai 
Mining Corporation Limited, the Company is required to act as manager of the tenements held by Mid Migori Mining Company Limited 
in Kenya, pay the costs of exploration and other costs except for the costs of licence renewal and rents, and to keep the tenements in 
good standing. 

			On 24 May 2011 the Company entered into an earn-in agreement with North Atlantic Mining Associates Limited (“NAMA”) and 
as such is obligated to fund the 2011 exploration programme. As at 30 June 2011 an estimated amount of US$1,300,000 was 
outstanding to finalise the 2011 exploration programme. Under the Earn-in, the Company may elect to fund the 2012 exploration 
programme and the agreed aggregate cost of the 2011 and 2012 exploration programmes is US$5,000,000, with the costs of the 
2012 exploration programme being approximately US$2,100,000.

			On 27 June 2006, the Company entered into sub-licence agreements with Regency Mines plc under which, together with Greatland 
Gold plc, it agreed to share the rental, service costs and other outgoings of the office at 115 Eastbourne Mews, London W2 6LQ. 
From 1 January 2008 until 30 June 2010, the Company’s agreed share of the total costs was 40%; from 1 July 2010, the share was 
increased to 60%. The costs likely to be incurred during the notice period of two months are estimated at £24,000.

26 Control
There is considered to be no controlling party. Whereas Regency Mines plc originally held a controlling interest, this was reduced to 
below 50% during the year to 30 June 2007, since when it has been progressively reduced to 20.13% as at 30 June 2011 and reduced 
further to 19.95% as at 29 November 2011. 
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Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Red Rock Resources plc (the “Company”) will be held at Hilton London Paddington, 
146 Praed Street, London W2 1EE on 23 December 2011 at 11.00am for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing the following 
resolutions which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions in the cases of resolutions 1–5 and as a special resolution in the case of resolution 6.

Ordinary business
Ordinary resolution
1. To receive the Report of the Directors and the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2011.

2.  To re-appoint James Franz Ladner, appointed during the year and retiring as a Director in accordance with the Articles of Association, 
who, being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

3.  To re-elect John Watkins as a Director of the Company, who retires by rotation under the Articles of Association of the Company and, 
being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

4.  To re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditor of the Company to act until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
and to authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of the auditor.

5.  That, in substitution for all existing and unexercised authorities, the Directors of the Company be and they are hereby generally and 
unconditionally authorised for the purpose of Section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”) to exercise all or any of the powers 
of the Company to allot equity securities (within the meaning of Section 560 of the Act) up to a maximum nominal amount of £600,000 
provided that this authority shall, unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, expire on the earlier of 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or 15 months after the passing of this resolution, unless renewed 
or extended prior to such time except that the Directors of the Company may before the expiry of such period make an offer or 
agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after the expiry of such period and the Directors of the 
Company may allot relevant securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired.

Special resolution
6.  That, in substitution for all existing and unexercised authorities and subject to the passing of the immediately preceding resolution, 

the Directors of the Company be and they are hereby empowered pursuant to Section 570 of the Act to allot equity securities (as defined 
in Section 560 of the Act) pursuant to the authority conferred upon them by the preceding resolution as if Section 561(1) of the Act 
did not apply to any such allotment provided that the power conferred by the resolution, unless previously revoked or varied by 
special resolution of the Company in general meeting, shall be limited:

 (a)  to the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue in favour of ordinary shareholders where the equity securities 
respectively attributable to the interest of all such shareholders are proportionate (as nearly as may be) to the respective numbers 
of the ordinary shares held by them subject only to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors of the Company may 
consider appropriate to deal with fractional entitlements or legal and practical difficulties under the laws of, or the requirements 
of any recognised regulatory body in, any territory;

 (b)  the grant of a right to subscribe for, or to convert any equity securities into Ordinary shares otherwise than under sub-paragraph 
(a) above, up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £100,000; and

 (c)  to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraphs (a) and (b) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal 
amount of £300,000 in respect of any other issues for cash consideration,

  and shall expire on the earlier of the date of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or 15 months from the date of the 
passing of this resolution save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require 
equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such offer or agreement 
as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.
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Ordinary business continued
If you are a registered holder of Ordinary shares in the Company, whether or not you are able to attend the meeting, you may use the 
enclosed form of proxy to appoint one or more persons to attend and vote on a poll on your behalf. A proxy need not be a member 
of the Company.

A form of proxy is provided.

This may be sent by facsimile transfer to 01252 719 232 or by mail using the reply paid card to:

The Company Secretary 
Red Rock Resources Plc 
c/o Share Registrars Limited 
Suite E, First Floor 
9 Lion and Lamb Yard 
Farnham, Surrey GU9 7LL

In either case, the signed proxy must be received no later than 48 hours (excluding non-business days) before the time of the meeting, 
or any adjournment thereof.

Registered Office:  By order of the Board 
Third Floor   
55 Gower Street   
London WC1E 6HQ   
  Stephen Ronaldson  
  Company Secretary 
  29 November 2011

Registered in England and Wales Number: 5225394    
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Entitlement to attend and vote
1.   Pursuant to Regulation 41 of The Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 and paragraph 18(c) of The Companies Act 2006 

(Consequential Amendments) (Uncertificated Securities) Order 2009, the Company specifies that only those members registered 
on the Company’s register of members 48 hours before the time of the Meeting shall be entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting. 
In calculating the period of 48 hours mentioned above no account shall be taken of any part of a day that is not a working day.

Appointment of proxies
2.   If you are a member of the Company at the time set out in note 1 above, you are entitled to appoint a proxy to exercise all or any 

of your rights to attend, speak and vote at the Meeting and you should have received a proxy form with this notice of meeting. 
You can only appoint a proxy using the procedures set out in these notes and the notes to the proxy form.

3.   A proxy does not need to be a member of the Company but must attend the Meeting to represent you. Details of how to appoint the 
Chairman of the Meeting or another person as your proxy using the proxy form are set out in the notes to the proxy form. If you wish 
your proxy to speak on your behalf at the Meeting you will need to appoint your own choice of proxy (not the Chairman) and give 
your instructions directly to them.

4.   You may appoint more than one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. You may 
not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights attached to any one share. To appoint more than one proxy, please contact 
the registrars of the Company, Share Registrars Limited, on 01252 821 390.

5.   A vote withheld is not a vote in law, which means that the vote will not be counted in the calculation of votes for or against the 
resolution. If no voting indication is given, your proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his or her discretion. Your proxy will vote 
(or abstain from voting) as he or she thinks fit in relation to any other matter which is put before the Meeting.

Appointment of proxy using hard-copy proxy form
6.  The notes to the proxy form explain how to direct your proxy how to vote on each resolution or withhold their vote.

 To appoint a proxy using the proxy form, the form must be:

	 			completed and signed;

	 			sent or delivered to Share Registrars Limited at Suite E, First Floor, 9 Lion and Lamb Yard, Farnham, Surrey GU9 7LL 
or by facsimile transmission to 01252 719 232; and

	 			received by Share Registrars Limited no later than 48 hours (excluding non-business days) prior to the Meeting.

  In the case of a member which is a company, the proxy form must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an 
officer of the company or an attorney for the company.

  Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the proxy form is signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) 
must be included with the proxy form.

Appointment of proxy by joint members
7.   In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appointment submitted 

by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority is determined by the order in which the names of the joint holders appear 
in the Company’s register of members in respect of the joint holding (the first-named being the most senior).

Changing proxy instructions
8.   To change your proxy instructions simply submit a new proxy appointment using the methods set out above. Note that the cut-off 

time for receipt of proxy appointments (see above) also applies in relation to amended instructions; any amended proxy appointment 
received after the relevant cut-off time will be disregarded.

  Where you have appointed a proxy using the hard-copy proxy form and would like to change the instructions using another 
hard-copy proxy form, please contact Share Registrars Limited on 01252 821 390.

  If you submit more than one valid proxy appointment, the appointment received last before the latest time for the receipt of proxies 
will take precedence.
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Notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting continued
Termination of proxy appointments
9.  In order to revoke a proxy instruction you will need to inform the Company using one of the following methods:

  By sending a signed hard-copy notice clearly stating your intention to revoke your proxy appointment to Share Registrars Limited 
at Suite E, First Floor, 9 Lion and Lamb Yard, Farnham, Surrey GU9 7LL or by facsimile transmission to 01252 719 232. In the case 
of a member which is a company, the revocation notice must be executed under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an officer 
of the company or an attorney for the company. Any power of attorney or any other authority under which the revocation notice is 
signed (or a duly certified copy of such power or authority) must be included with the revocation notice.

  In either case, the revocation notice must be received by Share Registrars Limited no later than 48 hours (excluding non-business 
days) prior to the Meeting.

  If you attempt to revoke your proxy appointment but the revocation is received after the time specified then, subject to the paragraph 
directly below, your proxy appointment will remain valid.

  Appointment of a proxy does not preclude you from attending the Meeting and voting in person. If you have appointed a proxy 
and attend the Meeting in person, your proxy appointment will automatically be terminated.

Issued shares and total voting rights
10.   As at 29 November 2011, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 730,760,973 ordinary shares of £0.001 each. 

Each Ordinary share carries the right to one vote at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore, the total number 
of voting rights in the Company as at 29 November 2011 is 730,760,973.

Communications with the Company
11.   Except as provided above, members who have general queries about the Meeting should telephone Miss Rasa Vaitkute on 020 7402 4580 

(no other methods of communication will be accepted). You may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice of general 
meeting or any related documents (including the Chairman’s letter and proxy form) to communicate with the Company for any purposes 
other than those expressly stated.

CREST
12.   CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do 

so for the Annual General Meeting and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. 

  CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting 
service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate 
action on their behalf.

  In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message 
(a “CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications 
and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST Manual (available via euroclear.com/CREST). 

  The message, regardless of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or to an amendment to the instruction given to 
a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the issuer’s agent (ID: 7RA36) 
by the latest time(s) for receipt of proxy appointments specified above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to 
be the time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer’s 
agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change of 
instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

  CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited 
does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore 
apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the 
CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that 
his or her CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is 
transmitted by means of CREST by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST 
sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations 
of the CREST system and timings.

  The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated 
Securities Regulations 2001.
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